
 

SAN JUAN WATER CONSERVANCY DISRICT             ) 

                                                                                                      ) 

ARCHULETA COUNTY                                                                        )        SS 

                                                                                                     ) 

STATE OF COLORADO                                                                      ) 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING 

  

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the San Juan Water Conservancy 

District (SJWCD) is scheduled for Monday, April 18, 2022 at 4:00 p.m. The Regular Meeting will be at the SJWCD 

office at 46 Eaton Drive Suite #5, Pagosa Springs, CO. The Board will be discussing and sharing documents related 

to the agenda below. A link to participate by Zoom is below. 

 

To participate by Zoom: 

Sally High is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting. 

Topic: SJWCD REGULAR MEETING APR22 

Time: Apr 18, 2022 04:00 PM Mountain Time (US and Canada) 

Join Zoom Meeting 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87219676513?pwd=Z2hGOE5GODBqdXV0cmZsREJ4N21iUT09  

Meeting ID: 872 1967 6513 

Passcode: 508378 

For questions about how to participate by Zoom, please contact SJWCD President and Chairman, Al Pfister at 970-

985-5764 or apfister.sjwcd@gmail.com.  

 

Proposed Agenda is as follows: 

      

1. Call to Order 

2. Revisions to Agenda 

3. Disclosures of Conflict of Interest 

4. Public Comment 

5. Consideration of Approval of February 21, 2022 Regular Meeting and March 10, 2022 Special Meeting 

Minutes 

6. Consideration of Attorney’s Report 

7. Update from Project Resource Studio on Community Engagement Services Contract 

8. Consideration of Treasurer’s Report 

9. Consideration of Updates to the Mitigation Plan for Running Iron Ranch 

10. Discussion of Individual Director’s conduct when in opposition to SJWCD Board, approved SJWCD 

projects, and Statutory Duties 

11. Consideration of Reappointment of Director Hudson 

12. Update on Watershed Enhancement Partnership Public Meeting 

13. Discussion of Action Items regarding Revisions to Strategic Plan 

 

SAN JUAN WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT 

By /s/ Sally High 

   For the Board of Directors 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87219676513?pwd=Z2hGOE5GODBqdXV0cmZsREJ4N21iUT09
mailto:apfister.sjwcd@gmail.com


DISTRICT SEAL 



 

 

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 1 
SAN JUAN WATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT 2 

FEBRUARY 21, 2022 REGULAR MEETING 3 
 4 
Attendance 5 
 6 
A regular meeting was held in person at the SJWCD office at 46 Eaton Drive, Suite #5. 7 
A Zoom link was also provided. 8 
 9 
The following Directors were present in the office: Al Pfister, Bill Hudson, Susan 10 
Nossaman, Doug Secrist, John Porco, and Joe Tedder. 11 
 12 
Also present in person were: Sally High (SJWCD Executive Assistant), Justin Ramsey 13 
(PAWSD), and Josh Pike (Pagosa Sun). 14 
 15 
Attending by Zoom were: Jeffery Kane (Attorney), Joe Crabb (CO District 29 Water 16 
Commissioner), Mandy Eskelson (WEP), Terri House and Randi Pierce (Pagosa Sun). 17 
 18 
Call to Order 19 
 20 
The Regular Meeting for the San Juan Water Conservancy District was called to order 21 
by Chairman Al Pfister at 4:03 pm. 22 
 23 
Revisions to Agenda 24 
 25 
The Board considered Revisions to Agenda and one item was added: Consideration of 26 
a Change in the Project Designation for the SJWCD Budget Allocation. An AIR form 27 
was sent to Directors before the meeting today. The late agenda item was added at 28 
#9.5 after the Treasurer’s Report. 29 
 30 
Declaration of Conflicts of Interest 31 
 32 
The Board considered Declarations of Conflicts of Interest. No conflicts were declared. 33 
 34 
Public Comment 35 
 36 
Chairman Pfister opened the meeting to Public Comment. No comments were offered. 37 
 38 
Consideration of Election of Officers for 2022 and 2023 39 
 40 
Directors considered the election of officers to serve for the next two years. Director 41 
Hudson nominated Joe Tedder for President and Al Pfister for Vice President. The 42 
motion died from lack of a second. 43 
 44 
It was established that Director Nossaman was willing to remain as Vice President and 45 
Director Pfister was willing to remain as President. Director Secrist moved to re-elect 46 



 

 

the present Board for two more years. Director Porco seconded. Director Hudson 47 
expressed his opinion that Director Pfister had engaged in divisive, mean-spirited, and 48 
aggressive behaviors and should step down. When called to a vote, the motion passed 49 
five votes to one. Director Hudson voted no.  50 
 51 
Consideration of Attorney Report 52 
 53 
Directors considered Attorney Kane’s explanations of developments in the BLM 54 
Treasure Pass Ditch Water Rights Cases. Status Conferences have been held on the 55 
BLM’s requests in Division 7 and Division 3. Lists of opposers in both the San Juan 56 
River Basin Case (Div 7) and the Rio Grande River Basin Case (Div 3) were provided. 57 
No action by the Directors was needed at this time. 58 
 59 
Attorney Kane advised the Board about an open-meetings law consideration underway 60 
regarding the Douglas County School Board communications controversy. Email 61 
communications and “daisy-chain meetings” are presently under court review. The 62 
SJWCD Board was advised to be careful with email communications and understand 63 
that decisions must be discussed and made in public meetings. 64 
 65 
Consideration of CEGR Law Firm Proposal 66 
 67 
Directors considered continuing Attorney Evan Ela’s service to SJWCD. Due to a 68 
perceived conflict of interest, Evan Ela has served as SJWCD’s attorney representing 69 
the old Piano Creek Ranch case and its East Fork water rights (now in Conservation 70 
Easement). Jeff Kane formerly represented the owner, a conflict of interest. Evan Ela is 71 
now with a different law firm, CEGR. A letter was received asking whether or not 72 
SJWCD wanted to continue his services at a rate of $350 per hour. Director Pfister 73 
moved to retain CEGR. Director Secrist seconded. Unanimous approval. Evan Ela will 74 
be asked to submit a written summary of the status of the case. Director Hudson moved 75 
to ask Ela for a written summary. Director Secrist seconded. Unanimous approval. 76 
 77 
Consideration of Approval of Records of Proceedings for December 13, 2021 78 
Regular Meeting 79 
 80 
Director Hudson moved to accept the minutes as presented. Director Nossaman 81 
seconded. Unanimous approval. 82 
 83 
Consideration of Treasurer Report 84 
 85 
A brief discussion resulted in no questions from Directors. Director Pfister requested 86 
that Director Tedder be added as a signatory with TBK Bank, so that each Director can 87 
sign checks if the need arises. No objections surfaced. 88 
 89 
 90 
 91 
 92 



 

 

Consideration of Reallocation of Granted SJWCD Funds in 2022 93 
 94 
Directors considered reallocating the funds already granted to WEP for 2022. Mandy 95 
Eskelson presented a request to move SJWCD funds from the Pagosa Gateway Project 96 
to the Yamaguchi South Project. Director Secrist moved to approve moving $2,000 to 97 
the Yamaguchi South Project. Director Hudson seconded. Unanimous approval. 98 
 99 
Consideration of Hiring Consultant for Water Demand Analysis / GWS 100 
 101 
Directors considered a proposed Wilson Water Group analysis of supply and demand 102 
for both SJWCD and Growing Water Smart purposes. Director Pfister reviewed the 103 
Wilson Water Group’s proposal to perform measurements/analyses of supply and 104 
demand for Municipal, Agricultural, Environmental, and Recreational water uses for 105 
SJWCD and Growing Water Smart. The $13,080 expense could come from SJWCD’s 106 
Engineering budget, but other partners will be sought for funding. Discussion included 107 
issues of population growth, the necessary appropriate volume of the Headwaters 108 
Project reservoir, the need for GWS to find additional funders, and climate change 109 
effects on agricultural water supply and significantly increasing demand. The study 110 
would contribute to SJWCD’s required due diligence re: Headwaters Project later in 111 
2022. Director Pfister will invite WWG to the SJWCD March 10 Special Meeting for 112 
further discussion. 113 
 114 
Discussion of Pagosa Area Water and Sanitation District Ballot Initiative 115 
 116 
Justin Ramsey, PAWSD District Manager, described the May 2022 election, changes in 117 
PAWSD’s regulatory requirements, and Resolution 2022-03. The resolution will ask 118 
voters to de-TABOR PAWSD’s funding through grants and will not raise taxes.  119 
 120 
Update on Water Year from CO District 29 Water Commission 121 
 122 
Joe Crabb, local Water Commissioner, reviewed his 2022 Winter Update and Diversion 123 
Summary already distributed to Board. Archuleta’s Snow Water Equivalent is at 93% 124 
and the forecast storm this week should raise that number. The Transbasin and 125 
Diversion Summaries and Lake Levels were included in Commissioner Crabb’s report. 126 
 127 
Discussion of SJWCD Strategic Plan 128 
 129 
Directors considered reviewing the 2021 Strategic Plan, with consideration of ample 130 
future funds in mind. Director Pfister asked that the Annual Review consider the hiring 131 
of an Administrator/Manager and Executive Assistant as employees. Grant writing 132 
would be in the list of duties assigned to the new employees. Directors will discuss their 133 
review of the Strategic Plan at the March 10 Special Meeting. 134 
 135 
Dry Gulch Development Ideas were presented by Director Hudson using a handout with 136 
maps of the Headwaters/Dry Gulch property. Director Hudson’s ideas included a 137 
smaller reservoir, possible sale of property, and an affordable housing development. 138 



 

 

Directors’ discussion points included parameters of SJWCD’s mission, the necessity to 139 
include PAWSD in discussion, obligations to CWCB, and the State Park idea. Attorney 140 
Kane reminded Directors that CWCB retained a Right of First Refusal applied to any 141 
proposed sale of the property. 142 
 143 
Consideration of Hiring a Community Engagement Specialist 144 
 145 
Directors considered hiring a Community Engagement Specialist and the results of the 146 
interviews of three applicants. Director Tedder reviewed his AIR form recommending 147 
hiring Project Resource Studio of Carbondale. Advantages of hiring PRS included their 148 
experience with other Western Slope municipalities and water entities, strategies to 149 
interview the five water groups and six SJWCD Board members, intentions to 150 
collaborate with local water experts and to reach SJWCD’s goals with community 151 
understanding. Director Porco moved to hire PRS. Director Pfister seconded. Motion 152 
passed five votes to one. Director Hudson abstained. 153 
 154 
Consideration of Final Revisions to Bylaws 155 
 156 
Directors considered finalizing the revisions to SJWCD’s. Director Pfister requested that 157 
Section 4.b. wording of “knowledge of water issues” be changed from “must” to 158 
“preferred to possess knowledge of water matters.” Director Kane reminds Directors 159 
that the wording comes from the Water Conservancy Act. The change will be made. 160 
Director Hudson motioned and Director Porco seconded the adoption of revised bylaws 161 
(with the repair of a minor typo in Section 11). Unanimous approval. 162 
 163 
Consideration of SJWCD Involvement in Gravel Pit Decisions  164 
 165 
After reviewing Archuleta County’s staffing report, the Board stated that Gravel Pit 166 
Decisions were outside the mission of SJWCD. No action was taken. 167 
 168 
Consideration of Reappointment of Directors Hudson and Nossaman 169 
 170 
Director Nossaman mailed her letter, asking to be reappointed to the SJWCD Board, to 171 
the Court. Director Hudson was reminded that he should do the same. The Board 172 
decided to take no action regarding the court’s reappointment process. 173 
 174 
Update on 2022 Water Congress and Water 22 175 
 176 
Director Pfister attended the CO 2022 Water Congress. He learned of Governor Polis’s 177 
Water22 and knowledge of the ample funds to be made available to water projects in 178 
Colorado. Director Pfister will provide the Board with his notes when compiled. CWCB 179 
will provide to the public recordings of the main sessions. Directors Tedder and Porco 180 
expressed an interest in attending the August 2022 conference in Steamboat Springs.  181 
 182 
 183 
 184 



 

 

Consideration of Notice of Location of Meetings in 2022 – Resolution 2022 – 01 185 
 186 
Director Nossaman moved to approve Resolution 2022-01. Director Hudson seconded. 187 
Unanimous approval. 188 
 189 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned 190 
at 6:47 pm. 191 
 192 
Respectfully submitted, 193 
 194 
Sally High 195 
Executive Assistant SJWCD 196 
For the Board of Directors 197 



 

 

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 1 
SAN JUAN WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT 2 

MARCH 10, 2022 SPECIAL MEETING 3 
 4 
Attendance 5 
 6 
A Special Meeting of San Juan Water Conservancy District was held, Thursday March 10, 2022, 7 
at 2 pm in person at the Pagosa Area Water and Sanitation District Board Room and on Zoom.   8 
 9 
The following Directors were present: Al Pfister, Bill Hudson, Doug Secrist, and Joe Tedder. Also 10 
present was Sally High, Executive Assistant. 11 
 12 
Attending by Zoom were: Directors Susan Nossaman and John Porco, Jeffrey Kane (Attorney), 13 
Terri House (Editor, Pagosa Springs Sun), James Dickoff, Josh Pike, Brenna Mefford, and Tori 14 
Rohwer. Keith Bruno joined later in the meeting. 15 
 16 
Call to Order 17 
 18 
The Special Meeting for the San Juan Water Conservancy District (SJWCD) was called to order 19 
by Chairman Al Pfister at 2:06 p.m. 20 
 21 
Revisions to Agenda 22 
 23 
The Board considered Revisions to Agenda. No revisions were requested. 24 
 25 
Declaration of Conflicts of Interest 26 
 27 
The Board considered Declarations of Conflict of Interest. Chairman Pfister states that he 28 
intends to recuse himself from consideration of the Geothermal Greenhouse Partnership’s 29 
educational funding request. No further Conflicts of Interest were identified. 30 
 31 
Public Comment 32 
 33 
Chairman Pfister opened the meeting to public comment. No comments were offered. 34 
 35 
Consideration of Watershed Enhancement Partnership Request to Revise the Budget 36 
 37 
Mandy Eskelson’s request was included in the Board Packet. All $2,500 budgeted by San Juan 38 
Water Conservation District will go toward the Town of Pagosa Springs South Yamaguchi Park. 39 
Director Pfister moved and Director Porco seconded to move $500 from the Gateway Project to 40 
the South Yamaguchi. Director Hudson objected to Director Pfister making the motion, citing a 41 
Conflict of Interest. Director Porco moved and Director Secrist seconded the motion to move all 42 
$2,500 to be used at South Yamaguchi. Approval was unanimous. 43 
 44 



 

 

Consideration of Wilson Water Group Services 45 
 46 
Director Pfister and Director Secrist negotiated with Erin Wilson and Brenna Mefford to include 47 
all services requested by San Juan Water Conservation District. The revised proposal was 48 
included in the Board Packet. After discussion, Director Pfister moved to approve the proposed 49 
Scope of Work and budgeted expense to SJWCD. Director Tedder seconded. Approval was 50 
unanimous. 51 
 52 
Consideration of 2022 Strategic Plan Review 53 
 54 
Director Secrist explained that responsibility for management of Running Iron Ranch needed to 55 
be added to the Strategic Plan. The status of 2021 West Fork water rights decisions needs to be 56 
updated. Accomplishments, including Project Resource Studio work, Wilson Water Group, and 57 
Watershed Enhancement Project need to be referenced for public understanding. Director 58 
Hudson volunteered to write updates of the West Fork changes. Director Pfister agreed to 59 
describe PRS community outreach and related work. Director Secrist will write a description 60 
Running Iron Ranch management and potential State Park development. Conversation with 61 
PAWSD will clarify expectations to manage Running Iron Ranch. 62 
 63 
A suggestion was made that SJWCD hire a part-time employee(s) to provide information to 64 
Board – possibly an administrator, program manager, grant writer. Directors discussed the pros 65 
and cons of contracted workers as opposed to employees. 66 
 67 
Further discussion of the Strategic Plan was postponed until a future agenda. 68 
 69 
Consideration of Director Hudson’s Requests for Copies of Communications Between Other 70 
Directors and the District’s Legal Counsel 71 
 72 
Attorney Kane explained that Director Hudson had contacted him “a few times” to learn of 73 
other Directors’ communications with counsel. The attorney reminds the Board that he 74 
represents the District, not Directors. Directors were reminded that they agreed to 75 
communicate with the attorney through the Board President. Director Hudson states his 76 
reticence to communicate with the attorney through Board President Pfister, because of 77 
perceived conflict. Discussion ensued that included Directors’ fiduciary duties, attorney’s fees, 78 
and appropriate Board procedures. A request was made that a future meeting include 79 
discussion of an individual Director’s conduct when in opposition to the Board, its approved 80 
SJWCD projects, and Statutory Duties. Attorney Kane will provide Director Hudson requested 81 
emails. 82 
 83 
Consideration of SJWCD Participation in Earth Day Activities 84 
 85 
Director Porco encouraged SJWCD to have a table/booth at the Earth Day activities on Saturday 86 
April 23 from 10 am to 2 pm. No opposition was voiced. The tri-fold brochure will be updated. 87 
 88 



 

 

Geothermal Greenhouse Board Member Keith Bruno requested that SJWCD sponsor the GGP’s 89 
Environmental Film Festival and ongoing water education activities. The request was for $250. 90 
An AIR form and letter from GGP, outlining benefits to SJWCD, was in the Board Packet. 91 
Director Tedder moved to transfer $250 from Travel budget line to Education budget line. 92 
Director Secrist seconded. Approval was unanimous. Director Tedder moved to give the $250 to 93 
GGP. Director Hudson seconded. Unanimous approval. 94 
 95 
Consideration of Motion to Reappoint Director Nossaman 96 
Director Nossaman’s letter to the Court requesting reappointment was included in the Board 97 
Packet. Director Pfister moved. Director Secrist seconded. Director Hudson questioned the 98 
need for a Motion to be submitted to the Court. Attorney Kane explained that a Motion to the 99 
Court is recommended. Director Pfister will confirm the need for a Motion with the Court Clerk. 100 
Pending that confirmation, Director Pfister moved and Director Hudson seconded 101 
reappointment of Director Nossaman to the SJWCD Board. Motion passed unanimously. 102 
 103 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the Special Meeting was adjourned 104 
at 3:47 pm. 105 
 106 
The next Regular Meeting of the San Juan Water Conservancy District is scheduled for Monday, 107 
April 18, at 4 pm. 108 
 109 
SAN JUAN WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT 110 
By /s/ Sally High 111 
  For Board of Directors 112 
 113 
DISTRICT SEAL 114 



Jeffrey M. Kane, Principal 
(970) 426-5480 

jkane@swpropertylaw.com 
www.southwestpropertylaw.com 

Quality, client-focused legal services in Southwest Colorado 
 

Southwest Water and Property Law LLC 
679 East 2nd Avenue, Suite 10 | 10 Town Plaza No. 422 | Durango, Colorado 81301 

 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
To:   Board of Directors, San Juan Water Conservancy District 

From:  Jeffrey Kane 

Date:  April 13, 2022 

Re: Attorney Report for April 13, 2022 Director Meeting 

Attachments: Copies of Emails with Directors in February and March, 2022 (privileged) 

 “Judge tells Douglas County school board majority to stop one-on-one 
meetings of district business,” Denver Post (March 9, 2022) 

 “Order Re: Plaintiffs’ Motion for a Preliminary Injunction,” Marshall v. 
Douglas County Board of Education, 2022CV30071, District Ct. Douglas 
County (Mar. 9, 2022) 

 “How the Cortez school board ousted its superintendent,” Durango Herald, 
(March 18, 2022) 

  
A. BLM Treasure Pass Ditch Water Rights Cases -- 21CW3029 (Div. 7) and 

21CW3014 (Div. 3) 

There are a couple of items to report on concerning BLM’s Treasure Pass Ditch 
water rights cases, but no action by the Directors is needed at this time.  

 
In the Rio Grande River Basin case (i.e., Water Division 3), a status conference 

was held April 11, 2022. BLM’s counsel indicated that about one-third of the opposers 
have submitted comments to the BLM about its proposed decree. At the request of the 
BLM, the Court will issue an order requiring all opposers to submit comments by May 
26 and that BLM provide responses 45 days later, by July 10. The Division Engineer has 
not served a consultation report in that case, but Southwestern Water Conservation 
District has provided comments. Al is going to request a copy of those comments. 

 
In the San Juan River Basin case (i.e., Water Division 7), a status conference will 

be held on April 15. I will report on it at Monday’s meeting. 
 
I will work with Al to coordinate with other opposers sharing SJWCD’s interests 

as warranted and to prepare written comments on the proposed decrees for both cases 
in advance of the May 27 deadline. 

 



Board of Directors, SJWCD   
April 13, 2022 
Page 2 of 2 

 

B. Copies of Emails Between Legal Counsel and Directors in February and March 

In response to Director Hudson’s request and your authorization at the February 
meeting, with this memorandum I am providing a document with all emails between 
me and the District’s directors in February and March, 2022.  

 
These communications include attorney-client communications and work 

product and are, therefore, confidential unless the Board of Directors decides to waive 
those privileges as to all or some of the privileged material.  

 
C. Open Meetings Law Disputes and Litigation in Douglas and Montezuma 

Counties 

The requirements of the Colorado Open Meetings Law and its application to 
“daisy chain” meetings remain in the news. First, in the Douglas County Board of 
Education case, a District Court judge found it highly probable that the school board 
violated the OML by holding unnoticed daisy chain meetings to deliberate and decide 
to fire its superintendent. In the order enjoining that school board from continuing such 
practices, the court acknowledged that there is little Colorado law interpreting the 
relevant provisions of the OML, but analyzed cases from a number of other states with 
similar laws as persuasive for interpreting the OML. 

 
Second, the Montezuma-Cortez Board of Education has been sued for allegedly 

engaging in a similar process of unnoticed daisy chain meetings in ousting its 
superintendent.  

 
Press articles about both disputes and the District Court order are attached for 

your information. 
 
 



By JESSICA SEAMAN | jseaman@denverpost.com | The

Denver Post

PUBLISHED: March 9, 2022 at 6:05 p.m. | UPDATED: March 9, 2022

at 6:08 p.m.

Kevin Mohatt, Special to the Denver Post

Douglas County School Board Director, David Ray expresses
frustration over the board’s decision to terminate the
superintendent’s contract at a district meeting in Castle Rock, CO,
February 4, 2022.

NEWS!EDUCATION

Judge tells Douglas County
school board majority to stop
one-on-one meetings of
district business
The preliminary injunction comes after lawsuit
alleged the directors violated the Colorado’s open-
meeting law

https://www.denverpost.com/author/jessica-seaman/
mailto:jseaman@denverpost.com
https://www.denverpost.com/news/
https://www.denverpost.com/news/education/


128

A judge on Wednesday ordered the four majority members of

Douglas County School District’s Board of Education to follow

Colorado’s open meetings laws, including prohibiting them

from having one-on-one meetings to discuss district business

privately.

The preliminary injunction, issued by Douglas County District

Judge Jeffrey Holmes, comes after a Highlands Ranch resident

filed a lawsuit against the school board members, alleging they

violated state statute by holding a series of one-on-one

meetings in late January to discuss replacing former

Superintendent Corey Wise.

“Circumventing the statute by a series of private one-on-one

meetings at which public business is discussed and/or

decisions reached is a violation of the purpose of the statute,

not just its spirit,” Holmes wrote in his order.

Robert Marshall filed the lawsuit against the directors — Mike

Peterson, Christy Williams, Becky Myers and Kaylee Winegar —

after the board’s three minority directors claimed their

colleagues violated the state’s open meeting law in their efforts

to fire Wise.

Wise was told that if he did not resign “four members of the

(Board of Education) had already collectively decided” to

terminate his contract, according to the motion for a

preliminary injunction.

Wise was terminated without cause in a public meeting on Feb.

4, a decision that drew protests by hundreds of the district’s

roughly 63,000 students. The board was divided in the decision,

voting 4-3 to fire Wise two years before his contract expired.

javascript:void(0)
https://www.denverpost.com/2022/02/25/douglas-county-schools-open-meeting-fired-superintendent/
https://www.denverpost.com/2022/02/25/douglas-county-schools-open-meeting-fired-superintendent/
https://www.denverpost.com/2022/02/04/douglas-county-school-board-corey-wise/


!"#$%&'()*(+,-(."//$*)+0

“The evidence indicates that four members of the board

collectively committed, outside of public meetings, to the

termination of Wise’s employment,” Holmes wrote in the

injunction. “The fact that no public comment was permitted at

the February 4th meeting is additional evidence of the (four

board members’) commitment to their course of action.”

The injunction does not nullify the board members’ decision to

terminate Wise; that decision has not yet been decided by the

court.

Paula Hans, a spokeswoman for the Douglas County School

District, declined to comment. An attorney for the four board

members targeted in the lawsuit did not immediately respond

to messages seeking comment.

“I hope it will send a message that you have to follow the law,

basically, and not try to circumvent it,” Marshall said.

Under the state’s open-meeting law, if at least three school

board members meet to discuss public business, then the

public and other board members must be notified and the

meeting made public. This includes if it is a meeting in person,

by phone, email or text.

During a hearing held last month, attorney Steve Zansberg

argued that the four directors held a series of one-on-one

phone calls to purposely not trigger the open-meeting law

when deciding Wise’s future.

“It’s gratifying…that the judge understood that these types of

efforts to evade the open records law can not be condoned,”

Zansberg said Wednesday.

Jeff Roberts, executive director of the Colorado Freedom of

Information Coalition, said Holmes’ decision is “potentially

pretty important for the strength of Colorado’s open meeting

law.”

“We haven’t had any rulings like this in Colorado before,” he

said.



1 
 

DISTRICT COURT, DOUGLAS COUNTY, COLORADO 
4000 Justice Way 
Castle Rock, Colorado 80109 
(720) 437-6200 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

▲COURT USE ONLY▲ 

 
Plaintiff:  ROBERT C. MARSHALL, 
 
v. 
 
Defendants:  DOUGLAS COUNTY BOARD OF 
EDUCATION; MICHAEL PETERSON, REBECCA 
MYERS, KAYLEE WINEGAR and CHRISTY 
WILLIAMS, in their official capacities as members thereof.      

 
Case Number: 2022CV30071 
         
Division: 5 
 

 
ORDER RE: PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

 
 

 THIS MATTER came before the court on February 25, 2022 for a hearing on Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Preliminary Injunction Prohibiting Further Violations of the Colorado Open 

Meetings Law (hereafter “Motion”).  At the conclusion of the hearing the court took its ruling 
under advisement.  Now having considered the testimony of the witnesses, the exhibits, the 
statements of counsel and the applicable law, the court finds and orders as follows:   

    STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Plaintiff Robert C. Marshall (hereafter “Marshall”) is a resident of Douglas County, 
Colorado.   Defendant Douglas County Board of Education (hereafter “BOE”) is a local public  
body subject to the provisions of the Colorado Open Meetings Law, § 24-6-401, et seq. 
(hereafter “COML”). 1  Michael Peterson (hereafter “Peterson”), Rebecca Myers (hereafter 
“Myers”), Kaylee Winegar (hereafter “Winegar”) and Christy Williams (hereafter 
“Williams”)(collectively “Individual Defendants”) are four of the seven members of the BOE. 

 Marshall filed a Complaint2 alleging the four Individual Defendants engaged in activity 
that violated the COML by discussing and deciding to terminate the employment of Corey Wise 
(hereafter “Wise”), superintendent of the Douglas County School District (hereafter “DCSD”), 
outside a public meeting of the BOE.  The Complaint alleges three claims for relief:  1) 
Declaratory Relief for Past Violations of the Colorado Open Meetings Law; 2) Injunctive Relief 

                                                           
1 The Open Meetings Law is part of the “Colorado Sunshine Act of 1972,” § 24-6-101, et seq.  
2 The original complaint was superseded by a First Amended Verified Complaint.   

DATE FILED: March 9, 2022 3:14 PM 
CASE NUMBER: 2022CV30071 



2 
 

Barring Further Violations of the Colorado Open Meetings Law; 3) A Declaration that the 
Decision to Terminate the Employment of Superintendent Wise is Null and Void.   

 Marshall also filed the Motion which is at issue here in which he requests a preliminary 
injunction prohibiting the Defendants from further violating the COML by engaging in 
discussion of public business by three or more members of the BOE through a series of 
gatherings by less than three members at a time.    

           LEGAL STANDARD 

The declaration of policy which prefaces the COML provides:  

It is declared to be a matter of state wide concern and the policy of this state that the 
formation of public policy is public business and may not be conducted in secret.  § 24-6-
401, C.R.S. 

The COML goes on to state:  

All meetings of a quorum or three or more members of any local public body, whichever 
is fewer, at which any public business is discussed or at which any formal action may be 
taken are declared to be public meetings open to the public at all times. §24-6-402(2)(b), 
C.R.S.  

 “Meetings” are defined as:  

[A]ny kind of gathering, convened to discuss public business, in person, by telephone, 
electronically, or by other means of communication.  § 24-6-402 (1)(b), C.R.S.   

In  discussing the purpose of the COML, the Colorado Court of Appeals has observed 
that it affords the public access to a broad range of meetings at which public business is 
considered; it gives citizens an expanded opportunity to become fully informed on issues of 
public importance; and it allows citizens to participate in the legislative decision-making process 
that affects their personal interests.  Walsenburg Sand & Gravel Co., Inc. v. City Council of 

Walsenburg, 160 P.3d 297, 299 (Colo. App. 2007). 

The COML has a broad enforcement provision and provides that, “Any person denied or 
threatened with denial of any of the rights that are conferred on the public by this part 4 has 
suffered an injury in fact and, therefore, has standing to challenge the violation of this part 4.”     
§ 24-6-402(9)(a).   

Preliminary injunctive relief is an extraordinary remedy designed to protect a plaintiff 
from irreparable injury and preserve the court’s power to render a meaningful decision following 
a trial on the merits.  Rathke v. MacFarlane, 648 P.2d 648, 651 (Colo. 1982). 



3 
 

In order to obtain a preliminary injunction, the moving party must demonstrate:  1) a 
reasonable probability of success on the merits; 2) a danger of real, immediate, and irreparable 
injury which may be prevented by injunctive relief; 3) that there is no plain, speedy, and 
adequate remedy at law; 4) that granting a preliminary injunction will not disserve the public 
interest; 5) that the balance of equities favors the injunction; and 6) that the injunction will 
preserve the status quo pending a trial on the merits.  Id. at pp. 653-54.   

    ANALYSIS 

Reasonable Probability of Success 

The first criteria for a preliminary injunction requires a plaintiff to establish a reasonable 
probability of success on the merits.   Here the evidence demonstrates that, separately from a 
public meeting, the Individual Defendants engaged in discussions among themselves and reached  
agreement that Wise should not continue as the DCSD superintendent.  Without notifying the  
three board members not named as Individual Defendants, Peterson and Williams then met with 
Wise and presented him with alternatives regarding his departure, either that he could do so 
voluntarily or he would be terminated.  When he refused to leave voluntarily, he was terminated 
at a public meeting held on February 4, 2022.  At that meeting, the four Individual Defendants 
voted in favor of discharge and the other three members of the BOE voted against it.    

Marshall does not contend that three or more members of the board met at one time, 
discussed discharge, and reached an agreement to terminate Wise, but instead he argues that the 
four Individual Defendants engaged in these activities serially, two members at a time, in order 
to avoid the three member prohibition of § 24-6-402(2)(b).  Defendants contend that because no 
more than two members at a time met and communicated about these issues, they complied with 
the law.    

There is a lack of appellate decisions in Colorado regarding whether serial 
communications violate the COML.  Other states, however, have addressed this issue.  In Right 

to Know Committee v. City Council, City and County of Honolulu, 175 P.3d 111,122 (Hawaii 
App. 2007) the court held that when city council members engaged in a series of one-on-one 
conversations relating to an item of Council business, the spirit of the open meeting requirement 
was circumvented and the strong policy of having public bodies deliberate and decide business in 
view of the public is thwarted and frustrated. 

Colorado’s open meeting law is similar to that of Hawaii and, in support of its decision in 
Right to Know Committee, the Hawaii court cited a number of decisions from states with similar 
laws.  State ex rel. Cincinnati Post v. City of Cincinnati, 76 Ohio. St. 3d 540, 544, 668 N.E.2d 
903, 906 (1996)(The Ohio Sunshine law cannot be circumvented by scheduling back-to-back 
meetings which, taken together are attended by a majority of a public body.); Booth Newspapers, 

Inc. v. Wyoming City Council, 168 Mich. App. 459, 471, 425 N.W.2d 695, 700 (1988)(Open 
Meetings Act was violated where council members met privately in separate meetings because 



4 
 

total number of participating members constituted a quorum even though less than a quorum 
participated in each meeting.); Del Papa v. Bd. of Regents of the University and Community 

College System of Nevada, 114 Nev. 388, 400, 956 P.2d 770, 778 (1998)(holding that serial 
electronic communications used to deliberate toward a decision violated open meetings law and 
“if a quorum is present or is gathered by serial electronic communications, the body must 
deliberate and actually vote on the matter at a public meeting”); Stockton Newspapers, Inc. v. 

Members of the Redev. Agency of Stockton, 171 Cal. App. 3d 95, 98, 214 Cal. Rptr. 561, 562 
(1985)(a series of telephone contacts constitutes a meeting within California’s public meeting 
law and “the concept of ‘meeting’ under the [California open meeting law] comprehends 
informal sessions at which a legislative body commits itself collectively to a particular future 
decision concerning the public business”); Blackford v. Sch. Bd. of Orange County, 375 So.2d 
578, 580 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1979)(holding that “the scheduling of six sessions of secret 
discussions, repetitive in content, in rapid-fire seriatim and of such obvious official portent, 
resulted in six de facto meetings by two or more members of the board at which official action 
was taken,” and “[a]s a consequence, the discussions were in contravention of the Sunshine 
Law”); Sacramento Newspaper Guild v. Sacramento County Bd. of Supervisors, 263 Cal. App. 
2d 41, 50, 69 Cal. Rptr. 480, 487(1968)(“An informal conference or caucus permits 
crystallization of secret decisions to a point just short of ceremonial acceptance.  There is rarely 
any purpose in a nonpublic pre-meeting conference except to conduct some part of the decisional 
process behind closed doors.  Only by embracing the collective inquiry and discussion stages, as 
well as the ultimate step of official action, can an open meeting regulation frustrate these evasive 
devices”).3 

These decisions are consistent with the position that Colorado has taken with regard to 
the conduct of public business.  The COML declaration of policy provides that even “the 
formulation of public policy…may not be conducted in secret.”  § 24-6-401(emphasis supplied).  
And, meetings regarding public business must be public not only when decisions are made, but 
also in situations where “public business is discussed.” § 24-6-402(2)(b)(emphasis supplied).  
Statutes such as the COML are to be interpreted most favorably to protect the ultimate 
beneficiary, the public.  Cole v. State, 673 P.2d 345, 349 (Colo. 1983). Circumventing the  

                                                           
3 Plaintiff has provided the court with several other authorities in support of this position that the court finds 
instructive.  Harris v. City of Fort Smith, 197 S.W.3d 461, 467 (Ark. 2004)(“an informal meeting subject to the [open 
meetings law] was held by way of” one-on-one meetings); Wood v. Battle Ground Sch. Dist., 27 P.3d 1208, 1216 
(Wash. Ct. App. 2001)(“the [Open Public Meetings Act] does not require the contemporaneous physical presence 
of the members to trigger its provisions” and concluding that a prima facie case of a meeting by e-mail was 
established when a quorum of school board members “exchanged mail (e-mail) messages about Board business”);   
Handy v. Lane County, 362 P.3d 867, 881 (Or. Ct. App. 2015), aff’d in part on other grounds, 385 P.3d 1016 (Or. 
2016)(“the Public Meetings Law…contemplates something more than just a contemporaneous gathering of a 
quorum.  A series of discussions may rise to the level of prohibited ‘deliberation’ or ‘decision’; the determinative 
factors are whether a sufficient number of officials are involved, what they discuss, and the purpose for which they 
discuss it—not the time, place and manner of their communications.”)  



5 
 

statute by a series of private one-on-one meetings at which public business is discussed and/or 
decisions reached is a violation of the purpose of the statute, not just its spirit.   

The hiring and firing of a school district’s superintendent is clearly a matter of public 
business.  It is a subject that can generate strong feelings and it is a matter on which the public 
can expect to be fully informed.  Discussion by members of the BOE, let alone ultimate 
decisions on this subject should  be conducted at meetings open to the public. The evidence 
indicates that four members of the board collectively committed, outside of public meetings, to   
the termination of Wise’s employment. That decision was then formalized at an official meeting 
on February 4th.  The fact that no public comment was permitted at the February 4th  meeting is 
additional evidence of the Individual Defendants’ commitment to their course of action.   

Marshall has shown a reasonable probability of success on the merits, namely that a 
series of private meetings took place between various combinations of the Individual Defendants 
and that they reached and communicated agreement regarding Wise’s termination.  Marshall has, 
therefore, met the first requirement for a preliminary injunction. 

Danger of Real, Immediate and Irreparable Injury 

The COML acknowledges that the denial or threatened denial of the rights conferred by it 
on the public constitutes an injury in fact. § 24-6-402(9)(a).  As discussed above, Marshall has 
shown a reasonable probability of success on the merits and since even a threatened denial 
constitutes an injury, Marshall has met this criteria for a preliminary injunction. 

No Plain, Speedy and Adequate Remedy at Law 

Once again, the COML provides guidance on this requirement.  Colorado courts have 
jurisdiction to issue injunctions “to enforce the purposes of this section upon the application by 
any citizen of this state.”  § 24-6-402(9)(b).  A proceeding under this statue implicates the 
interests of the general public and not just the interests of the person bringing the action.  
Injunctive relief rather than money damages is the only practical remedy for a violation.     

 No Disservice to the Public Interest 

 The statute furthers transparency in the conduct of public decision making.  The 
legislature has determined that the formation of public policy may not be conducted in secret, 
therefore, the granting of a preliminary injunction that requires discussion and decision making 
to occur at public meetings would not disserve the public interest. 

The Balance of Equities Favors an Injunction 

The Defendants suggest this criteria disfavors the requested injunction.  They argue that 
the Board has a strong interest in conducting operations without ongoing judicial supervision and 
a preliminary injunction would hamper their ability to react quickly to changed circumstances.   



6 
 

The court has no interest in engaging in ongoing supervision of the BOE. The 
preliminary injunction requested here does not imply such supervision. The requested relief is 
that the board do what the statute requires.  To the extent that statutory compliance results in an 
inability to react quickly to changed circumstances, that is not the fault of the injunction.  Instead 
it is the natural outcome of a law that circumscribes governmental  decision making and insures 
that decisions on public matters be made in the open and not behind closed doors.  The BOE is 
the governing body of the DCSD, it is composed of seven members who have a responsibility to 
work together in the public business of providing educational services in Douglas County and to 
do so in a way that enables the public to view the process.  For the reasons discussed above, the 
court finds that the equities favor the preliminary injunction. 

Preservation of the Status Quo Pending a Trial on the Merits     

It is unclear whether there has been a past practice of conducting a series of one-on-one 
or two-on-one meetings that involved board members and the superintendent, followed by 
communicating the discussions to absent board members at similar meetings.  The possibility of 
a “status quo” that involved an improper practice designed to circumvent the COML, however,  
does not argue against a preliminary injunction which is consistent with practices required by 
statute.  The court finds that a preliminary injunction would preserve the status quo pending a 
trial on the merits.   

    CONCLUSION  

The Court finds that the criteria for issuance of a preliminary injunction has been met.  
The Motion is GRANTED as set forth below.  

The Defendants are enjoined from engaging in discussions of public business or taking 
formal action by three or more members of the BOE either as a group or through a series of 
meetings by less than three members at a time, except in public meetings open to the public.  
This order does not preclude the BOE from conducting executive sessions as permitted by statue.  

DONE AND SIGNED this 9th day of March, 2022.      

        
       ________________________________ 
       Jeffrey K. Holmes, District Court Judge 
              



 News  Local News  Nation & World  New Mexico  Education

How the Cortez school board ousted its
superintendent
!  "  #

Board president initially acted alone; ‘daisy chain’ communications were illegal, attorney
says
By Kala Parkinson Journal sta! writer
Friday, Mar 18, 2022 6:53 Updated Friday, Mar. 18, 2022 9:42

Pictured here, the Montezuma-Cortez School District RE-1 Board of Education prepared to enter into executive session in a Jan.
18 meeting. In that executive session, Board President Sheri Noyes asked for former Superintendent Risha VanderWey’s
resignation. (YouTube screengrab)

$

Fares So Low, You Have To Go
Alaska Airlines

San Francisco to Austin
$83

Book Now

% & Log In  39°

https://www.durangoherald.com/categories/local-news
https://www.durangoherald.com/tags/nation-world
https://www.durangoherald.com/new-mexico
https://www.durangoherald.com/categories/education
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/pcs/click?xai=AKAOjstzHq_S6I_b5euAiTOSJKDSDIoobhcbC1sLAmaMq8IATygSFZGvDFgE9nyXjO_1ZfhyjPRVgnzxS8GSkSF1o-7MKqDHoV9evoLndYNBm202g2eqcXo90Zp8YtoFKA4JJn4RrG352-Uzh2CNjfLW1wA3Abtqidb3bMskGPVlmpXGTZdNUzdx70_jkleSXKKoaCgYNCaoByjCzPtWduSLs_5Bnze3exegt4Tj3YYZ9vL258DVzacsnl_peRfcYTI7_aK6a_WnKHyXEeTE-gQkwkrDg_w7LJUuVw3vHLw-Gd49rYSB1Kh1ML3K2or7JoTbXdyPqzklC4ldoiIp5qzIqBCI3-x3ALzmJWb2hDmqppNtiULN84Wbbkh95zr5afxirqSMfGh9oUybbmg5z7fzOIbIHMRwruWdg2Njda1Q7OPV_dAbzw2hB4yKVzyvu4mC0YyWySFFXNTtqyvK4XpZHBH7dcfKWPwRNKwUL1x7fIhSSTVkVsBxOcvW2sk3RUXjqkiNNTLUWMBsaEtAiQwMnjV33G453yC_qqhsOD-aOASUe1x4W-LxLyyuZcO_8EJaKqMJD2SL6WrF_n0t7LOuoFiedNQarOctRmGkiLafiPrTbUL5BSFiCtn9q3Ki0z285Da1TfR_5g_SnjEj_XnsBNuoX3qoK86Rxz8Ay9Dwiy2z2WglyprnXg57sEOpPgR7U-i4RZhyCeedvDpXR4j-Pm-a5a_4M0vGiAiIPnsF_nEATgFJt6TqhwR67oOJ4TbN8BdWI3ga_yw6TPZx-pL9BWKStYlaiK9nj4ayKK_IMwj8s52BwF5aEC6mvm0rNnsQ-vFA_0oyaiBPLzvnO6onnNafRy-7PzwiPlN7NuWxffrXmQrX2X35cj1p5qGHiNSFmpDdlfjK1gdJ2VqJfJYgis0KGk31Rb25mnHc8seeMAEavkqiypVfocxuiH0jCU5wOh3Tg47Dm60cqGjLUd-8qGhCImBJ8seZFejhb0LlEq5cDI55P5REcmAkXczywZ0SwTHP2Yzd2Qh5Jxz1ZI2ZdrKHWz3b6-MgoUeulcxa7FaBSK42UYFM6ohbJiZw3DHDqFGSBosRkdQ0lFSLB_1yqu0JoZQ4pRYnR3w7BRCGPssWL2hmLiKv_Rfb&sai=AMfl-YTMKJ1-svs4P3l4lS03Cz02m1GBhpGxb6VzndWJfMIytmVL1WYn2IyNIVljUeHhF0z_I60O20e9CJpDgLmBZM_M-EPW_KQ8qPcx8Psfb03sIJGtI3TifWLmVEGszbCIwG2dKefJlbMsNm-R3DHR-8NGwZ5z056yelo0P6Xh96ZBgFn_vou-Nmbt-cxwlgaQt5TI-G2AVeyMI6YwKmWPGITAQS-yBxllcj1Ib8FCQ-uQKB3M&sig=Cg0ArKJSzL2nybkZ9Dif&fbs_aeid=%5Bgw_fbsaeid%5D&urlfix=1&adurl=https://www.cvent.com/microsites/new-mexico-tourism/new-mexico-tourism%3Futm_source%3DProgrammatic%26utm_medium%3Ddisplay%26utm_campaign%3Dcvent
https://www.durangoherald.com/
https://www.facebook.com/sharer.php?u=https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/how-the-cortez-school-board-ousted-its-superintendent/
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?url=https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/how-the-cortez-school-board-ousted-its-superintendent/
mailto:?body=How%20the%20Cortez%20school%20board%20ousted%20its%20superintendent%0D%0Ahttps://www.durangoherald.com/articles/how-the-cortez-school-board-ousted-its-superintendent/&subject=Read%20this%20article%20from%20the%20Durango%20Herald
https://www.durangoherald.com/author?q=Kala%20Parkinson
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=l&ai=CPmM82DtXYofxLbyrtOUPg_etaP6o6tFpwJ3Ix_0PsJAfEAEguPDsJGDJ9omHzKPcGKAB0I7L9gPIAQbgAgCoAwGqBOoCT9Dkry13SnHLnWz40a8eZ4ZVfMf-y2A8m49ikugTPkV40xU9wK2p1En5_USn9pcPue2VYlEjfnIfGdyZzmGhQ_qscisRkeYDrY4Lca1a2bsJO7hkToS08ol_h7ZlO32j1Uq7ow_ot087fpHqwEtKcsFN1crUKhF76sQY2XT9m9-oD11pJJ1w5LwxQHsewwvy1vWOTYSzfiSffpCeqzhkeQO6VIjHVtMwxnVgZ7vNMwxE7YOVtWSk7_a_gCcB8vZ0SVsKew57YOsnWgALaaqDwDHBJHIsRDKL_BhydMLI-4ZgRL6hVWf8fZcqxg9DPFcfNVpFR-QECPYQEwUnkS0-sPUjg4gTFYXWdKc9_RkH8D4_uwfgOFyNsKIbog1YQrgRLNmCB-gHhq5hUUvwoRh_sma3SmVdMAcIymAAA8l7VMAuYG1wlWsrMP41fKtuewyWJnwBndUhaNXP2R9pwmTE53Qqkdrkko9udxHABL_CwrPwA-AEAfoFBgglEAEYAKAGN4AHmPG0CagHjs4bqAeT2BuoB-6WsQKoB_6esQKoB6SjsQKoB6a-G6gH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB9-fsQLYBwHACAHSCAcIiGEQARgdgAoDkAsDmAsByAsBuAwB2BMM0BUBmBYB-BYBgBcB&ae=1&num=1&sig=AOD64_0OknCIaICSB17L4DqaUyv-pgSKtA&nb=19&adurl=https://www.alaskaair.com/planbook/shoppingstart%3FO%3DSFO%26D%3DAUS%26ODR%3D21%26RT%3Dfalse%26frm%3Davail%26widgetState%3Dopen%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIh73Ap_mR9wIVvBWtBh2DewsNEAEYASABEgI86_D_BwE&client=ca-pub-4096035528202683
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=l&ai=CPmM82DtXYofxLbyrtOUPg_etaP6o6tFpwJ3Ix_0PsJAfEAEguPDsJGDJ9omHzKPcGKAB0I7L9gPIAQbgAgCoAwGqBOoCT9Dkry13SnHLnWz40a8eZ4ZVfMf-y2A8m49ikugTPkV40xU9wK2p1En5_USn9pcPue2VYlEjfnIfGdyZzmGhQ_qscisRkeYDrY4Lca1a2bsJO7hkToS08ol_h7ZlO32j1Uq7ow_ot087fpHqwEtKcsFN1crUKhF76sQY2XT9m9-oD11pJJ1w5LwxQHsewwvy1vWOTYSzfiSffpCeqzhkeQO6VIjHVtMwxnVgZ7vNMwxE7YOVtWSk7_a_gCcB8vZ0SVsKew57YOsnWgALaaqDwDHBJHIsRDKL_BhydMLI-4ZgRL6hVWf8fZcqxg9DPFcfNVpFR-QECPYQEwUnkS0-sPUjg4gTFYXWdKc9_RkH8D4_uwfgOFyNsKIbog1YQrgRLNmCB-gHhq5hUUvwoRh_sma3SmVdMAcIymAAA8l7VMAuYG1wlWsrMP41fKtuewyWJnwBndUhaNXP2R9pwmTE53Qqkdrkko9udxHABL_CwrPwA-AEAfoFBgglEAEYAKAGN4AHmPG0CagHjs4bqAeT2BuoB-6WsQKoB_6esQKoB6SjsQKoB6a-G6gH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB9-fsQLYBwHACAHSCAcIiGEQARgdgAoDkAsDmAsByAsBuAwB2BMM0BUBmBYB-BYBgBcB&ae=1&num=1&sig=AOD64_0OknCIaICSB17L4DqaUyv-pgSKtA&nb=19&adurl=https://www.alaskaair.com/planbook/shoppingstart%3FO%3DSFO%26D%3DAUS%26ODR%3D21%26RT%3Dfalse%26frm%3Davail%26widgetState%3Dopen%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIh73Ap_mR9wIVvBWtBh2DewsNEAEYASABEgI86_D_BwE&client=ca-pub-4096035528202683
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=l&ai=CPmM82DtXYofxLbyrtOUPg_etaP6o6tFpwJ3Ix_0PsJAfEAEguPDsJGDJ9omHzKPcGKAB0I7L9gPIAQbgAgCoAwGqBOoCT9Dkry13SnHLnWz40a8eZ4ZVfMf-y2A8m49ikugTPkV40xU9wK2p1En5_USn9pcPue2VYlEjfnIfGdyZzmGhQ_qscisRkeYDrY4Lca1a2bsJO7hkToS08ol_h7ZlO32j1Uq7ow_ot087fpHqwEtKcsFN1crUKhF76sQY2XT9m9-oD11pJJ1w5LwxQHsewwvy1vWOTYSzfiSffpCeqzhkeQO6VIjHVtMwxnVgZ7vNMwxE7YOVtWSk7_a_gCcB8vZ0SVsKew57YOsnWgALaaqDwDHBJHIsRDKL_BhydMLI-4ZgRL6hVWf8fZcqxg9DPFcfNVpFR-QECPYQEwUnkS0-sPUjg4gTFYXWdKc9_RkH8D4_uwfgOFyNsKIbog1YQrgRLNmCB-gHhq5hUUvwoRh_sma3SmVdMAcIymAAA8l7VMAuYG1wlWsrMP41fKtuewyWJnwBndUhaNXP2R9pwmTE53Qqkdrkko9udxHABL_CwrPwA-AEAfoFBgglEAEYAKAGN4AHmPG0CagHjs4bqAeT2BuoB-6WsQKoB_6esQKoB6SjsQKoB6a-G6gH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB9-fsQLYBwHACAHSCAcIiGEQARgdgAoDkAsDmAsByAsBuAwB2BMM0BUBmBYB-BYBgBcB&ae=1&num=1&sig=AOD64_0OknCIaICSB17L4DqaUyv-pgSKtA&nb=19&adurl=https://www.alaskaair.com/planbook/shoppingstart%3FO%3DSFO%26D%3DAUS%26ODR%3D21%26RT%3Dfalse%26frm%3Davail%26widgetState%3Dopen%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIh73Ap_mR9wIVvBWtBh2DewsNEAEYASABEgI86_D_BwE&client=ca-pub-4096035528202683
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=l&ai=CPmM82DtXYofxLbyrtOUPg_etaP6o6tFpwJ3Ix_0PsJAfEAEguPDsJGDJ9omHzKPcGKAB0I7L9gPIAQbgAgCoAwGqBOoCT9Dkry13SnHLnWz40a8eZ4ZVfMf-y2A8m49ikugTPkV40xU9wK2p1En5_USn9pcPue2VYlEjfnIfGdyZzmGhQ_qscisRkeYDrY4Lca1a2bsJO7hkToS08ol_h7ZlO32j1Uq7ow_ot087fpHqwEtKcsFN1crUKhF76sQY2XT9m9-oD11pJJ1w5LwxQHsewwvy1vWOTYSzfiSffpCeqzhkeQO6VIjHVtMwxnVgZ7vNMwxE7YOVtWSk7_a_gCcB8vZ0SVsKew57YOsnWgALaaqDwDHBJHIsRDKL_BhydMLI-4ZgRL6hVWf8fZcqxg9DPFcfNVpFR-QECPYQEwUnkS0-sPUjg4gTFYXWdKc9_RkH8D4_uwfgOFyNsKIbog1YQrgRLNmCB-gHhq5hUUvwoRh_sma3SmVdMAcIymAAA8l7VMAuYG1wlWsrMP41fKtuewyWJnwBndUhaNXP2R9pwmTE53Qqkdrkko9udxHABL_CwrPwA-AEAfoFBgglEAEYAKAGN4AHmPG0CagHjs4bqAeT2BuoB-6WsQKoB_6esQKoB6SjsQKoB6a-G6gH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB9-fsQLYBwHACAHSCAcIiGEQARgdgAoDkAsDmAsByAsBuAwB2BMM0BUBmBYB-BYBgBcB&ae=1&num=1&sig=AOD64_0OknCIaICSB17L4DqaUyv-pgSKtA&nb=9&adurl=https://www.alaskaair.com/planbook/shoppingstart%3FO%3DSFO%26D%3DAUS%26ODR%3D21%26RT%3Dfalse%26frm%3Davail%26widgetState%3Dopen%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIh73Ap_mR9wIVvBWtBh2DewsNEAEYASABEgI86_D_BwE&client=ca-pub-4096035528202683
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=l&ai=CPmM82DtXYofxLbyrtOUPg_etaP6o6tFpwJ3Ix_0PsJAfEAEguPDsJGDJ9omHzKPcGKAB0I7L9gPIAQbgAgCoAwGqBOoCT9Dkry13SnHLnWz40a8eZ4ZVfMf-y2A8m49ikugTPkV40xU9wK2p1En5_USn9pcPue2VYlEjfnIfGdyZzmGhQ_qscisRkeYDrY4Lca1a2bsJO7hkToS08ol_h7ZlO32j1Uq7ow_ot087fpHqwEtKcsFN1crUKhF76sQY2XT9m9-oD11pJJ1w5LwxQHsewwvy1vWOTYSzfiSffpCeqzhkeQO6VIjHVtMwxnVgZ7vNMwxE7YOVtWSk7_a_gCcB8vZ0SVsKew57YOsnWgALaaqDwDHBJHIsRDKL_BhydMLI-4ZgRL6hVWf8fZcqxg9DPFcfNVpFR-QECPYQEwUnkS0-sPUjg4gTFYXWdKc9_RkH8D4_uwfgOFyNsKIbog1YQrgRLNmCB-gHhq5hUUvwoRh_sma3SmVdMAcIymAAA8l7VMAuYG1wlWsrMP41fKtuewyWJnwBndUhaNXP2R9pwmTE53Qqkdrkko9udxHABL_CwrPwA-AEAfoFBgglEAEYAKAGN4AHmPG0CagHjs4bqAeT2BuoB-6WsQKoB_6esQKoB6SjsQKoB6a-G6gH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB9-fsQLYBwHACAHSCAcIiGEQARgdgAoDkAsDmAsByAsBuAwB2BMM0BUBmBYB-BYBgBcB&ae=1&num=1&sig=AOD64_0OknCIaICSB17L4DqaUyv-pgSKtA&nb=0&adurl=https://www.alaskaair.com/planbook/shoppingstart%3FO%3DSFO%26D%3DAUS%26ODR%3D21%26RT%3Dfalse%26frm%3Davail%26widgetState%3Dopen%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIh73Ap_mR9wIVvBWtBh2DewsNEAEYASABEgI86_D_BwE&client=ca-pub-4096035528202683
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=l&ai=CPmM82DtXYofxLbyrtOUPg_etaP6o6tFpwJ3Ix_0PsJAfEAEguPDsJGDJ9omHzKPcGKAB0I7L9gPIAQbgAgCoAwGqBOoCT9Dkry13SnHLnWz40a8eZ4ZVfMf-y2A8m49ikugTPkV40xU9wK2p1En5_USn9pcPue2VYlEjfnIfGdyZzmGhQ_qscisRkeYDrY4Lca1a2bsJO7hkToS08ol_h7ZlO32j1Uq7ow_ot087fpHqwEtKcsFN1crUKhF76sQY2XT9m9-oD11pJJ1w5LwxQHsewwvy1vWOTYSzfiSffpCeqzhkeQO6VIjHVtMwxnVgZ7vNMwxE7YOVtWSk7_a_gCcB8vZ0SVsKew57YOsnWgALaaqDwDHBJHIsRDKL_BhydMLI-4ZgRL6hVWf8fZcqxg9DPFcfNVpFR-QECPYQEwUnkS0-sPUjg4gTFYXWdKc9_RkH8D4_uwfgOFyNsKIbog1YQrgRLNmCB-gHhq5hUUvwoRh_sma3SmVdMAcIymAAA8l7VMAuYG1wlWsrMP41fKtuewyWJnwBndUhaNXP2R9pwmTE53Qqkdrkko9udxHABL_CwrPwA-AEAfoFBgglEAEYAKAGN4AHmPG0CagHjs4bqAeT2BuoB-6WsQKoB_6esQKoB6SjsQKoB6a-G6gH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB9-fsQLYBwHACAHSCAcIiGEQARgdgAoDkAsDmAsByAsBuAwB2BMM0BUBmBYB-BYBgBcB&ae=1&num=1&sig=AOD64_0OknCIaICSB17L4DqaUyv-pgSKtA&nb=15&adurl=https://www.alaskaair.com/planbook/shoppingstart%3FO%3DSFO%26D%3DAUS%26ODR%3D21%26RT%3Dfalse%26frm%3Davail%26widgetState%3Dopen%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIh73Ap_mR9wIVvBWtBh2DewsNEAEYASABEgI86_D_BwE&client=ca-pub-4096035528202683
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=l&ai=CPmM82DtXYofxLbyrtOUPg_etaP6o6tFpwJ3Ix_0PsJAfEAEguPDsJGDJ9omHzKPcGKAB0I7L9gPIAQbgAgCoAwGqBOoCT9Dkry13SnHLnWz40a8eZ4ZVfMf-y2A8m49ikugTPkV40xU9wK2p1En5_USn9pcPue2VYlEjfnIfGdyZzmGhQ_qscisRkeYDrY4Lca1a2bsJO7hkToS08ol_h7ZlO32j1Uq7ow_ot087fpHqwEtKcsFN1crUKhF76sQY2XT9m9-oD11pJJ1w5LwxQHsewwvy1vWOTYSzfiSffpCeqzhkeQO6VIjHVtMwxnVgZ7vNMwxE7YOVtWSk7_a_gCcB8vZ0SVsKew57YOsnWgALaaqDwDHBJHIsRDKL_BhydMLI-4ZgRL6hVWf8fZcqxg9DPFcfNVpFR-QECPYQEwUnkS0-sPUjg4gTFYXWdKc9_RkH8D4_uwfgOFyNsKIbog1YQrgRLNmCB-gHhq5hUUvwoRh_sma3SmVdMAcIymAAA8l7VMAuYG1wlWsrMP41fKtuewyWJnwBndUhaNXP2R9pwmTE53Qqkdrkko9udxHABL_CwrPwA-AEAfoFBgglEAEYAKAGN4AHmPG0CagHjs4bqAeT2BuoB-6WsQKoB_6esQKoB6SjsQKoB6a-G6gH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB9-fsQLYBwHACAHSCAcIiGEQARgdgAoDkAsDmAsByAsBuAwB2BMM0BUBmBYB-BYBgBcB&ae=1&num=1&sig=AOD64_0OknCIaICSB17L4DqaUyv-pgSKtA&nb=8&adurl=https://www.alaskaair.com/planbook/shoppingstart%3FO%3DSFO%26D%3DAUS%26ODR%3D21%26RT%3Dfalse%26frm%3Davail%26widgetState%3Dopen%26gclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIh73Ap_mR9wIVvBWtBh2DewsNEAEYASABEgI86_D_BwE&client=ca-pub-4096035528202683
https://adssettings.google.com/whythisad?source=display&reasons=Aa2KcEYiQ506fb17QEzit_JvTMza2GlBdLhd41ZIbIVpsHwD3Nv0mcawa3YdPvVDyuTV8tX6uayzrKbMJ_JPchdhJJwZjbqm6RxE5slNriHbflatSRxvGBEmgQMVjLzNWGnyqEV-7097dKW48tsfocmSAbm0jvzGuxVoui-1maw7TVxAKj7uPQ83hWsC8qy8qqb5d22rT50k5ZUT_e1Fg93u7E9f2hRCqcokoTrYBG3ksCRK9SwJWGvWHpdlQOfHMdnVJE1ZVt-zJaEqOYkYu-6XopDJyUesDMuet35iic6eM1jC86iJlNLSjojE0kI1Ce-j409tE78ESKnym67T0e_pm-xFZnCmOqS0W5AXz4_QIC_OWd7zW_e_DUv0Staq_0glv-q2gKPQAFs6614l6me_3VuX1Q_wUGHnNqBOOse1wCBv10sMLy_RCEEux71TfQYZuw2mX4HMaGvbBPEz3wlfJ3j6_jQ6b86yrGln8g_q53Mr9cn5dhTnqRv3RR0wrowp7BafY2OdM64MnFAGPIgST_GvUKSSLSDvEGZ0g4GnM9rXN0Sd5L73ugX1tW2iUK8tkvStu7kusbv2AocMESQ_r94LnBG8eeBcJVVLWJ-sBffukyvt8F-KlPNktT616TCOvyl77NFBgdVEjX3y3HPo0tXw-9tyRmxZgqPSTpqffq_rgyy3CnoJ8ZSIiYaBWtyCiY2A53IOFC2qlmt3JZ2y7XQilNNItDtLIfDRmDIrIVoUcEmUa4pOhBBkidiN3qiVofidiWYuV3tGSyvf-1CujDowY3Ms3iP9RtgH-O9trO2YGsAvZthzeA7L3dmTsH8I7nEpv4quuXI_ECuXATG_saESDJ7lcey0DBJ79wB1mAtzyEtsMgx3-utVKkp4A_LbQZDHQZajV1_eryJt65cVAfrcVhr5mRvrnUJL-z2_RsnYJkCm7wz9MjPju-sieZIn2Roq5qe9puAF-B7ASehMZHJjTFF63R4-amsr_YJNYqV_DSeJT8L0gKLSeThs7i5UQemdsd-EbqInU80jGYqz8z7sAMMa7SIkWpfsp1J6dRdbN53SGRp9WdjGET9dEAJpq1xirrngFsxMOQr8WirCvtIuNaiXFdYTDJMhApu2NKIDFA96nz_U1wkhYIj1796UtfNAO6qxdWo9oizURjMTQ2l2tbUGxNtm38iU-IPwrWCPEbVfsCI2e0I866Pj7QhUvf9MK0TfH0TpLZludUopyW0eHifVrlX86MmTjTuP4kuN5WB4T0vcDrCcX_tVHzUAyhGvMtLqGpWpyhiCZAwp5Gg7Jl7qLPN21nMO0mrm5ascWzfPJ5NuuSi2ds9o8REXZwpNzTnx3D_356C2UCzgkKFnXGpX-rajmytionmD-p94xKp3P-wuVfKo_iKF-0ZnGMHugojFgcjHru63bvBdsVFv5dGnsvCzUkgtxvaLoio2xkOjY_pwvt1P5PMEerLeZKKPSivUUBAEuo1S3KS1-ZPoE1zXWlVFxaHNbijlg-JwOOndGTZY3l9TFPmtxQKnCw3YXpZzlOMN-BlOZ9cstP06A1MVGb3LYBCEK_dUYfGij0KCSUivJ44r1i0tjP8jKC4ZakEcDI8waLIMdIPqz4fYyGbatOi8UxX7KK0uMVKa5ZUvgprbTItrLpHlnsOW8relaYYeEiHGlTszuUmd5Qx7k2B4iF95kQVFCQkWAoRhhxMbz_S5SoEFB5MMupsPyPPfNTDcPpkm2zKm8lBf3pz0csfcY45njqjlTdgDZhbkXscZJocPaqwcSeGVWwB9o24ZJ2O-TVp6n3pmBS_CL4LZUxX7NwC4TLwuEgL4Crsp7D0fQSj715LMfB_d0_T_9MU8Az_v_m-WS4mZ48jw2FNcyflUCPg9vAW1EUIrv9wsBVL6LZp4WbHleE1jN_iIxvq9wFsRTUKQTIuaqLrsmPWcmLDMBwhvsdxJ8r98YnpN0MzSRGIPhVF8txz1Wa4ZpNk8apy5Q4wEx_SIecLdbfRPQKsCxSjp0OLDPnbr
https://adssettings.google.com/whythisad?source=display&reasons=Aa2KcEYiQ506fb17QEzit_JvTMza2GlBdLhd41ZIbIVpsHwD3Nv0mcawa3YdPvVDyuTV8tX6uayzrKbMJ_JPchdhJJwZjbqm6RxE5slNriHbflatSRxvGBEmgQMVjLzNWGnyqEV-7097dKW48tsfocmSAbm0jvzGuxVoui-1maw7TVxAKj7uPQ83hWsC8qy8qqb5d22rT50k5ZUT_e1Fg93u7E9f2hRCqcokoTrYBG3ksCRK9SwJWGvWHpdlQOfHMdnVJE1ZVt-zJaEqOYkYu-6XopDJyUesDMuet35iic6eM1jC86iJlNLSjojE0kI1Ce-j409tE78ESKnym67T0e_pm-xFZnCmOqS0W5AXz4_QIC_OWd7zW_e_DUv0Staq_0glv-q2gKPQAFs6614l6me_3VuX1Q_wUGHnNqBOOse1wCBv10sMLy_RCEEux71TfQYZuw2mX4HMaGvbBPEz3wlfJ3j6_jQ6b86yrGln8g_q53Mr9cn5dhTnqRv3RR0wrowp7BafY2OdM64MnFAGPIgST_GvUKSSLSDvEGZ0g4GnM9rXN0Sd5L73ugX1tW2iUK8tkvStu7kusbv2AocMESQ_r94LnBG8eeBcJVVLWJ-sBffukyvt8F-KlPNktT616TCOvyl77NFBgdVEjX3y3HPo0tXw-9tyRmxZgqPSTpqffq_rgyy3CnoJ8ZSIiYaBWtyCiY2A53IOFC2qlmt3JZ2y7XQilNNItDtLIfDRmDIrIVoUcEmUa4pOhBBkidiN3qiVofidiWYuV3tGSyvf-1CujDowY3Ms3iP9RtgH-O9trO2YGsAvZthzeA7L3dmTsH8I7nEpv4quuXI_ECuXATG_saESDJ7lcey0DBJ79wB1mAtzyEtsMgx3-utVKkp4A_LbQZDHQZajV1_eryJt65cVAfrcVhr5mRvrnUJL-z2_RsnYJkCm7wz9MjPju-sieZIn2Roq5qe9puAF-B7ASehMZHJjTFF63R4-amsr_YJNYqV_DSeJT8L0gKLSeThs7i5UQemdsd-EbqInU80jGYqz8z7sAMMa7SIkWpfsp1J6dRdbN53SGRp9WdjGET9dEAJpq1xirrngFsxMOQr8WirCvtIuNaiXFdYTDJMhApu2NKIDFA96nz_U1wkhYIj1796UtfNAO6qxdWo9oizURjMTQ2l2tbUGxNtm38iU-IPwrWCPEbVfsCI2e0I866Pj7QhUvf9MK0TfH0TpLZludUopyW0eHifVrlX86MmTjTuP4kuN5WB4T0vcDrCcX_tVHzUAyhGvMtLqGpWpyhiCZAwp5Gg7Jl7qLPN21nMO0mrm5ascWzfPJ5NuuSi2ds9o8REXZwpNzTnx3D_356C2UCzgkKFnXGpX-rajmytionmD-p94xKp3P-wuVfKo_iKF-0ZnGMHugojFgcjHru63bvBdsVFv5dGnsvCzUkgtxvaLoio2xkOjY_pwvt1P5PMEerLeZKKPSivUUBAEuo1S3KS1-ZPoE1zXWlVFxaHNbijlg-JwOOndGTZY3l9TFPmtxQKnCw3YXpZzlOMN-BlOZ9cstP06A1MVGb3LYBCEK_dUYfGij0KCSUivJ44r1i0tjP8jKC4ZakEcDI8waLIMdIPqz4fYyGbatOi8UxX7KK0uMVKa5ZUvgprbTItrLpHlnsOW8relaYYeEiHGlTszuUmd5Qx7k2B4iF95kQVFCQkWAoRhhxMbz_S5SoEFB5MMupsPyPPfNTDcPpkm2zKm8lBf3pz0csfcY45njqjlTdgDZhbkXscZJocPaqwcSeGVWwB9o24ZJ2O-TVp6n3pmBS_CL4LZUxX7NwC4TLwuEgL4Crsp7D0fQSj715LMfB_d0_T_9MU8Az_v_m-WS4mZ48jw2FNcyflUCPg9vAW1EUIrv9wsBVL6LZp4WbHleE1jN_iIxvq9wFsRTUKQTIuaqLrsmPWcmLDMBwhvsdxJ8r98YnpN0MzSRGIPhVF8txz1Wa4ZpNk8apy5Q4wEx_SIecLdbfRPQKsCxSjp0OLDPnbr
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/how-the-cortez-school-board-ousted-its-superintendent/?bwtw=1#
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/how-the-cortez-school-board-ousted-its-superintendent/?bwtw=1#
https://www.durangoherald.com/


Related Stories
Apr 13, 2022
Update: Montezuma-
Cortez Superintendent
VanderWey formally
resigns

Apr 13, 2022
Montezuma-Cortez
superintendent
VanderWey placed on
leave

Montezuma-Cortez Board of Education President Sheri Noyes acted alone in asking former Superintendent Risha VanderWey to
resign, and the board’s related electronic communications likely violated Colorado’s Sunshine Law, according to the Colorado
Freedom of Information Coalition.

School board emails and messages obtained through a Colorado Open Records Act paint a picture of a secretive ouster in which Noyes
asked board members to be silent about the “logistics” of VanderWey’s resignation, and in a private group chat she asked board
members to vote on the terms of VanderWey’s separation agreement. She asked board members to reply individually.

The Journal learned about the school board’s decision-making process after examining more than 100
emails and messages it obtained through a Colorado Open Records Act request. The Journal

requested all electronic communications exchanged among board members in January that discussed
VanderWey.

The documents show that Noyes expedited VanderWey’s resignation when she asked the
superintendent to resign during an executive session of the board’s monthly meeting on Jan. 18.

The board announced publicly that it would enter the executive session to discuss VanderWey’s
evaluation. Colorado law prohibits public bodies from making decisions during an executive session.

The board met behind closed doors for more than an hour, and VanderWey was present for a portion
of the meeting. The board did not discuss VanderWey publicly during the open meeting that
followed.

It was unclear whether the board reached a consensus to support Noyes’ request that VanderWey
resign. At least one board member said he knew of no prior decision.

The next day, VanderWey was given a written ultimatum: Resign or be fired. According to a Jan. 19
letter from Noyes to VanderWey, if a separation agreement wasn’t reached by Jan. 21, the board
planned to terminate her contract.

It was unclear who made the decision to give VanderWey the ultimatum.

VanderWey has not publicly addressed her leave from the district.

However, Noyes made it clear in emails to board members on Jan. 20 that she “took sole initiative to
ask for (VanderWey’s) resignation first,” without consulting the board.

“I do want to apologize for not bringing you all in to give your thoughts when she asked if were (sic)
terminating her,” Noyes said in emails to board members. “Instead, I took sole initiative to ask for
her resignation first, with out (sic) asking what you all may have thought on the question. This being
said, I can only learn from my mistakes and or/quick decisions and promise to do better.”

Risha VanderWey
$

RECENT LOCAL NEWS

Bayfield man suspected of dragging
dog behind car is a no-show in court

La Plata County agrees to buy four
properties for managed camp

Cattlemen’s Association says
industry needs active support to
remain strong

https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/update-montezuma-cortez-superintendent-vanderwey-formally-resigns/
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/montezuma-cortez-superintendent-vanderwey-placed-on-leave/
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/bayfield-man-suspected-of-dragging-dog-behind-car-is-a-no-show-in-court/
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/bayfield-man-suspected-of-dragging-dog-behind-car-is-a-no-show-in-court/
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/la-plata-county-agrees-to-buy-four-properties-for-managed-camp/
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/la-plata-county-agrees-to-buy-four-properties-for-managed-camp/
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/cattlemens-association-says-industry-needs-active-support-to-remain-strong/
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/cattlemens-association-says-industry-needs-active-support-to-remain-strong/
https://googleads.g.doubleclick.net/aclk?sa=l&ai=Ctbek2DtXYojxLbyrtOUPg_etaLDRmLRpqpGJ9f4P-KiGtAMQASC48OwkYMn2iYfMo9wYoAG_-5miAsgBAuACAKgDAcgDCKoE7gJP0Pf6svrEUI88xn5AnRnbhwB8lotLQeftFeEHDrqaNjGY4A2LPcqTwDrysrSNsV2teEyKvqjHd01LjRSWrxGJKcGuKB63w9_sLIMqriKyGQzXOmsz1DbD7ne3JFXJmzqScZYWnQiwydbk8p9LdPAERVSbQHxfBI9Lpr2jAeGzVN3qP3uMUPsvC16PUu9QDJIPoQsl7H35iC8SgiCACedlG7fv1WWrW0fu-5hLwYhOT2GfMBlBO2qnz5h72NqQPCmCm-S752vVAEhTre7CAHZ8BplKlhmfI2Fz4vnyXpS3zljGVF6bCGP8BNIqJ3REnBxAhczl56g0baZTZDV2BF_PKdi8u1ObCnuffdQD9mx-gdRVlRurtt_n6COtjwQyh71WO3fYSy2FWsbV5NNgHc-LInl4Hl9MvAjFBhEEMaR3gzQXz6NmD1N7UQONYYdeHkESazcwijYYMAXGORbwf9_LK5lnM9zoFXuL-w0UOpjABN2m3Y_3A-AEAaAGAoAHqYTm3QGoB47OG6gHk9gbqAfulrECqAf-nrECqAeko7ECqAfVyRuoB6a-G6gH89EbqAeW2BuoB6qbsQKoB9-fsQLYBwHSCAcIiGEQARgdsQk07zh5z_aq54AKA5gLAcgLAbgMAdgTA9AVAZgWAfgWAYAXAQ&ae=1&num=1&sig=AOD64_0oTEm0Qx0wm2DEoGotqgf84ATYJQ&client=ca-pub-4096035528202683&nx=CLICK_X&ny=CLICK_Y&nb=2&adurl=http://flavorshookkidscolorado.org/%3Fgclid%3DEAIaIQobChMIiL3Ap_mR9wIVvBWtBh2DewsNEAEYASAAEgJX1_D_BwE
https://adssettings.google.com/whythisad?source=display&reasons=Aa2KcEY_YEU7dm6eUygnub9gL2uXTSldVktxBM2A6UlbH7pND5hEBEoNRscqdkNIQTJufQBQqj4-4A0nTxRrzVgCPG7VrS7WmCvXypsIwdtcPjm7woLRMbmK-He4EjyTzSyx6ciQpXXVuxpaRtZHQKs3PQ1jm1rXRU0AxwLsWl-6OkVn06szmLPngMYzY9T42dJF20vbNHQUI5PQO4PzI02iueJ_IzqsGRCidEzkmrzyL8iGJ4ttDiTxJroTkBx31Ei8iphzhdB0kZWRAxfYQiArX5G3wlZdNAAGcSccU-sv6jNKwJ7euToy_ZbGEgggZAdyeb05fKw-B7j08rltclp3iudKc-YHP1K1XtglothkyosC-csuRgSHHiNWChT-i1_wbqJDOclB2Yy47CUWYPbMM-g3hbSUsfuU0Oz6LnvZJHR_sSz12Y6xAIFh84zMzyW7xs5yOAqiGN6aulufg9Vls4iIgD0wtW1YWHU3O0OAJtCW6Z255x2QsN02JCrdJCbev09fRBXlUUOd2E6HuuK05FDvnXy4kZyoxc3IguvEB17eMHN3l7kiLVcdwT0i5Icgk8ZQ71Dsernmt-EEJbpTABsbKMOsy5naOr-vpR-kNw_DU--RrHf5_84q3EFBu6v3MU7iNZCKEDbbYAnAdxT5J7wwexzTYPQVCkJLyb7tJXf6B5CQ3o8rBoKg-kYaSH6ZGCzz4TD9UhEfE5DrlJXIQJuR4vPkHwZQJzOTjsNYxmBx7o4Izf_mI2lzuwgQoicHFfCgb_C1sqdKD8eSJ1EyQWpmHsBXCdkz08Qi2uL7HEbQURLm8yvj8an2I_JJmTTh_Bjp5rVMYqEocdlKS5wZFyBXlZfus43aoPZOFwDumcPIpIL3YUlfTptm-bzr20U5teLqA9AYFCBeCI5XQwI0BMt81zWUmktCWbCqXIy1cdsE_GnkuNxFl29R0Y_1Hc2XLh2ajHVrbt1eHY0D_treWgjKOV5d5jeZsK3NVoNF7Z1XpW2E5hL4jxCL4PRkF6kGQlK_golT3U-saBhwGGIthYl4XA1sAPIj4vkNBgV94sQyhEfyVm9dNvjIjlnBTEByEjAQhkj-iVzOTE8OiwqvwgeS2pWDF1I5rlyFEwo1FQJDWDT2pIWhkYadj3jll0bhgUUoUA_53BVlhdLgkxot_Bbu-8Svl_ZwTGpxGWQXxkLAi7ibD6dfRYJQp_X8tXasrDDmQNuET2Gwp_-l-u-93zQch4Cy9bje1m1RqX0gyL43EqofZ9C4m1fIAB-_5jT5KUbg7iRVcBjhT1EqPCujrIW9QseMAd6pqOc8slIJlBbp1icGCGXT7ZfRBGjIbyJBsfMaChHldmxe6xjGerNPfSfEHBGv_CLgo_PjqOKFIRzQXCAtSN2hoLT5IZt3m_-YBW2iMBCK5Rkk6-CEzB-hG9U098Q2Snk8RlDHGeJUuPf-bvlN_Kp6epvRvKG12__ueznWM-N8EUPDR1zebxs5vhLA61Oz-sqQzAaw5cp_S3Jd61HKl1LpxbBC2aYqcgpTlH2brqZlfhoj_TxmMWhQcJTZdo6eFEbUl-3I4qs5DqTqjFxKZUTgd8D158V9vQvMJ2fASozZH8b88uVUU1anmYbpKLxPxAj54mCJ6dr7DOazc-jGf-nSGCD09Qf1hRTBNLJF8FmrwPcsrm-V47_8wa5bjD2Tja_8otc_CR3WbtPF-_fPpIEmNsMZGW38UD4fjXUa0PyQ20CMDq4AA0WlHRk8uCVgts4LHwVKgtwTwrzf8OWVWPPwbp5qk6vftq7zzCrh_Q5Z-ZFjufxWzQrNxFhOcqLoXOAUZNiyPngVxQjnljhZ6I13cw6ThMOQDd7iVMopjk1NeCLnIxrR5O8gZU3h7G1XJUDLq4qLvu7n8jID8aFvxxS1d3esqaXUNGI420i5kx0wmZjR73BDhF1eSDynGOrw2KxFzZ8
https://adssettings.google.com/whythisad?source=display&reasons=Aa2KcEY_YEU7dm6eUygnub9gL2uXTSldVktxBM2A6UlbH7pND5hEBEoNRscqdkNIQTJufQBQqj4-4A0nTxRrzVgCPG7VrS7WmCvXypsIwdtcPjm7woLRMbmK-He4EjyTzSyx6ciQpXXVuxpaRtZHQKs3PQ1jm1rXRU0AxwLsWl-6OkVn06szmLPngMYzY9T42dJF20vbNHQUI5PQO4PzI02iueJ_IzqsGRCidEzkmrzyL8iGJ4ttDiTxJroTkBx31Ei8iphzhdB0kZWRAxfYQiArX5G3wlZdNAAGcSccU-sv6jNKwJ7euToy_ZbGEgggZAdyeb05fKw-B7j08rltclp3iudKc-YHP1K1XtglothkyosC-csuRgSHHiNWChT-i1_wbqJDOclB2Yy47CUWYPbMM-g3hbSUsfuU0Oz6LnvZJHR_sSz12Y6xAIFh84zMzyW7xs5yOAqiGN6aulufg9Vls4iIgD0wtW1YWHU3O0OAJtCW6Z255x2QsN02JCrdJCbev09fRBXlUUOd2E6HuuK05FDvnXy4kZyoxc3IguvEB17eMHN3l7kiLVcdwT0i5Icgk8ZQ71Dsernmt-EEJbpTABsbKMOsy5naOr-vpR-kNw_DU--RrHf5_84q3EFBu6v3MU7iNZCKEDbbYAnAdxT5J7wwexzTYPQVCkJLyb7tJXf6B5CQ3o8rBoKg-kYaSH6ZGCzz4TD9UhEfE5DrlJXIQJuR4vPkHwZQJzOTjsNYxmBx7o4Izf_mI2lzuwgQoicHFfCgb_C1sqdKD8eSJ1EyQWpmHsBXCdkz08Qi2uL7HEbQURLm8yvj8an2I_JJmTTh_Bjp5rVMYqEocdlKS5wZFyBXlZfus43aoPZOFwDumcPIpIL3YUlfTptm-bzr20U5teLqA9AYFCBeCI5XQwI0BMt81zWUmktCWbCqXIy1cdsE_GnkuNxFl29R0Y_1Hc2XLh2ajHVrbt1eHY0D_treWgjKOV5d5jeZsK3NVoNF7Z1XpW2E5hL4jxCL4PRkF6kGQlK_golT3U-saBhwGGIthYl4XA1sAPIj4vkNBgV94sQyhEfyVm9dNvjIjlnBTEByEjAQhkj-iVzOTE8OiwqvwgeS2pWDF1I5rlyFEwo1FQJDWDT2pIWhkYadj3jll0bhgUUoUA_53BVlhdLgkxot_Bbu-8Svl_ZwTGpxGWQXxkLAi7ibD6dfRYJQp_X8tXasrDDmQNuET2Gwp_-l-u-93zQch4Cy9bje1m1RqX0gyL43EqofZ9C4m1fIAB-_5jT5KUbg7iRVcBjhT1EqPCujrIW9QseMAd6pqOc8slIJlBbp1icGCGXT7ZfRBGjIbyJBsfMaChHldmxe6xjGerNPfSfEHBGv_CLgo_PjqOKFIRzQXCAtSN2hoLT5IZt3m_-YBW2iMBCK5Rkk6-CEzB-hG9U098Q2Snk8RlDHGeJUuPf-bvlN_Kp6epvRvKG12__ueznWM-N8EUPDR1zebxs5vhLA61Oz-sqQzAaw5cp_S3Jd61HKl1LpxbBC2aYqcgpTlH2brqZlfhoj_TxmMWhQcJTZdo6eFEbUl-3I4qs5DqTqjFxKZUTgd8D158V9vQvMJ2fASozZH8b88uVUU1anmYbpKLxPxAj54mCJ6dr7DOazc-jGf-nSGCD09Qf1hRTBNLJF8FmrwPcsrm-V47_8wa5bjD2Tja_8otc_CR3WbtPF-_fPpIEmNsMZGW38UD4fjXUa0PyQ20CMDq4AA0WlHRk8uCVgts4LHwVKgtwTwrzf8OWVWPPwbp5qk6vftq7zzCrh_Q5Z-ZFjufxWzQrNxFhOcqLoXOAUZNiyPngVxQjnljhZ6I13cw6ThMOQDd7iVMopjk1NeCLnIxrR5O8gZU3h7G1XJUDLq4qLvu7n8jID8aFvxxS1d3esqaXUNGI420i5kx0wmZjR73BDhF1eSDynGOrw2KxFzZ8


On Jan. 21, VanderWey’s resignation was o!cial. Her resignation came six days after she received low marks on a performance
evaluation, on Jan. 15. She had spent less than seven months on the job.

A news release Jan. 29 from Noyes attributed VanderWey’s resignation to “philosophical di"erences.”

Board Director Cody Wells disagreed with the board’s Jan. 29 o!cial statement.

In an instant message to Noyes, he attributed VanderWey’s resignation to “a poor evaluation due to job performance and district
liability” rather than “philosophical di"erences” between the board and VanderWey.

In an interview with The Journal, Wells declined to talk about his reference to “district liability.”

Page 1 of 1

Page 1 / 1

Sheri Noyes
$



Chart: Kala Parkinson • Source: Montezuma-Cortez School District RE-1 • Get the data • Created with Datawrapper

Cumulative school board ratings of former Superintendent Risha VanderWey 

Distinguished ProBcient Between needs
improvement and

failing

Needs improvement Failing

Student growth and achievement Organizational leadership District operations and Bnancial management Communication and community relations
Human resource management Professionalism

Wells was the only board director to discuss the evaluations with The Journal. On March 9, Wells told The Journal he wanted to talk
because he had mixed feelings about the Jan. 18 meeting.

He emphasized that he did not want to tarnish his relationship with other board members, but said he thought the Jan. 18 executive
session was to be about VanderWey’s evaluations, and nothing else.

Noyes and board directors Sherri Wright, Stacey Hall, Jeanette Hart and Layne Frazier did not respond to requests for comment
about VanderWey’s leave or their evaluations of her.

“I don’t see a need for any discussion concerning Dr. Vanderwey (sic),” Board Director Ed Rice said in an email to The Journal, adding
that he was willing to discuss the district’s future plans.

Questions of legality

Je" Roberts, executive director of the Colorado Freedom of Information Coalition, told The Journal he would be “surprised” if the
Montezuma-Cortez School District had a policy providing one board member the power to ask for the superintendent’s resignation.

“It’s a board decision to hire and fire a superintendent,” Roberts said. “I just have never heard of a board president having that power
on their own.”

Most decisions – especially one to give the superintendent an ultimatum to resign or be fired – should be made within the public eye,
Roberts said.

The Colorado Open Records Act does allow a private email exchange among three or
more board members that does not concern the “merits or substance” of public
business, such as scheduling and availability, items for future, public agendas and
responses to public inquiries.

VanderWey’s separation agreement with the district, signed Jan. 27, provided her a
severance payment of $54,597.70 and a release of claims for both parties. The
agreement prohibits the board and VanderWey from discussing the separation
agreement with a third party.

VanderWey had requested payment through the end of her contract, June 2023.

Noyes asked the board to vote about the terms of the agreement, and the wording of
news releases about VanderWey, in what are known as “serial meetings,” “walking
quorums” or “daisy chain” discussions. She sent all board members the same

The Colorado Open
Records Act
The Colorado Open Meetings Law states:
Members of boards and commissions risk
violating the open meetings law when three or
more (for a local public body) use email or text
messaging to discuss public business, either in a
single transmission or in succession. Such
electronic conversations are inherently closed
because there may be no way to provide advance
notice and allow the public to “attend” and
observe the meeting.
“Two members of a local board (unless two
constitutes a quorum) may email each other about
public business with no concerns. The messaging
becomes a “public meeting” if one of those board
members forwards the email to a third member.

javascript:void(0)
https://www.datawrapper.de/_/K55Kg
https://coloradofoic.org/


information – sometimes in one email or group text, sometimes in separate messages
– and asked for individual replies by message, email or phone.

Amid COVID-19 outbreaks, the Montezuma-Cortez school board experienced
backlash for suggesting the use of “daisy chain” votes to decide if it would close or
suspend classes. The board decided to avoid the “daisy chain” vote because it lay in a
“legal gray area,” then-President Wright said.

On Wednesday, a judge in Colorado clarified the issue, ordering the Douglas County
school board to comply with the open meetings law and held that a series of one-on-
one meetings violated the “spirit” and “purpose” of the statute, The Denver Post

reported. In that case, four members of the board met privately one-on-one to discuss
replacing former Superintendent Corey Wise, who was fired in February.

A Pagosa Springs attorney, Matthew Roane, filed a formal complaint with the
Montezuma County District Court on Feb. 24 alleging that the Montezuma-Cortez
school board violated Colorado’s open meetings law in a series of private meetings
deciding on VanderWey’s paid administrative leave and separation agreement without
notice to the public.

First Amendment and media attorney Steven Zansberg, who also serves as president of the Colorado Freedom of Information
Coalition, represents the plainti" in the lawsuit against the Douglas County school board, Robert Marshall.

“Certainly distributing the same email to every member of the board (discussing the public business of the board) by the board chair
is unquestionably a violation of the open meetings law as a series of daisy chain communications,” Zansberg said.

Zansberg said Noyes’ request for individual responses is “pretty clear evidence of an intent to evade the law.”

“That’s not ambiguous, there’s not a gray area: It’s black and white,” Zansberg said.

Under open meetings law, three or more board members may not meet to discuss public business unless the public is notified and
given the opportunity to “observe that discussion in real time,” he said.

“It can be done in a series of communications, where three or more members are discussing public business by relaying information
between them,” he said.

Zansberg reviewed some of the Montezuma-Cortez school board’s communications and said they are “definitive, irrefutable” proof of a
violation.

Merely “adopting a position” or reaching any sort of decision in an executive session, even informal, is an infraction of the open
meetings law, Zansberg said.

Further, Noyes would be in violation of the law even if she asked whether any board member disagreed with her decision, Zansberg
said.

Also problematic: Two members of a board texting
or emailing each other during a public meeting
about a matter being discussed in that meeting.
Such discussions are supposed to occur in public.
Elected o!cials may exchange emails about
scheduling and their availability, and other emails
that do not concern the “merits or substance” of
pending legislation or public business, without
worrying about violating the open meetings law.
They may also forward information, pose a
question “for later discussion by the public body”
and respond to inquiries from individuals who are
not members of the public body. “Merits or
substance” is defined as “any discussion, debate,
or exchange of ideas, either generally or
specifically, related to the essence of any public
policy proposition, specific proposal, or any other
matter being considered by the governing entity.”
C.R.S. § 24-6-402(2)(d) (III).
An exception for Colorado Mountain College
allows the board of trustees to make decisions
electronically under certain circumstances
because the trustees serve a large geographic
area that is often di!cult to travel in winter. C.R.S.
§ 23-71-119(2).

https://www.denverpost.com/2022/03/09/douglas-county-school-board-member-injuction-colorado-open-meeting-law-judge-rules/


Noyes’ emails to residents who asked about the board’s actions were ambiguous. In a response to a resident, Noyes said the board
could not speak about VanderWey’s leave because it was a “personnel matter” discussed in executive session.

“The reasons behind any decision or vote is (sic) actually supposed to be ‘secret’ due to the executive session laws,” she said in another
email.

And as speculation and uno!cial word of VanderWey’s leave circulated among Cortez residents and school employees, Noyes blamed a
“breach of confidentiality.”

“I will not break laws to put minds at ease when people feel they have a ‘right’ to certain information,” Noyes wrote in an email to a
parent.

In messages obtained by The Journal, Noyes contended that the district was “very transparent,” while in other messages she urged
the school board not to discuss VanderWey’s leave with the public or reporters.

After VanderWey’s resignation, the district received a “high volume” of Colorado Open Records Act requests, said Human Resources
Director Cynthia Eldredge during a Feb. 8 board meeting.

The board created a formal document to field the requests, and a fee of $33.58 per hour after the first hour of retrieving records. The

Journal requested the board exchanges Feb. 1, and received the documents Feb. 15.

Montezuma-Cortez Board of Education Directors Jeanette
Hart and Ed Rice cast their votes in a group chat available to
all board members, messages obtained by The Journal
show.

$

An excerpt of a conversation between Board Director Cody
Wells and Board President Sheri Noyes, received by The
Journal under a Colorado Open Records Act request.

$



Residents wanted to know whether the board voted to remove VanderWey. In an email comment, Wright emphatically denied a vote
was taken.

“I will tell you that it is illegal to take a vote in executive session, and THERE WAS NO VOTE TAKEN. When the board is released to
answer SOME of these questions they will,” she wrote.

No board member responded to requests for comment on the board’s decision-making process about Risha VanderWey’s resignation
and her separation agreement.

Noyes reminded board members not to reply within the group chat several times, noting that she wanted to “keep things legal.”

The Colorado Association of School Boards did not respond to a request for any state policy outlining protocol for terminating a
superintendent’s contract.

Documents reveal ‘daisy chain’ vote

Instant messages between board members received by The Journal revealed that the Montezuma-Cortez board did vote through an
electronic chat about VanderWey’s separation agreement. Some comments surrounding the vote were redacted.

When considering the separation agreement, the board voted 4-3 to remove conditions about nondisparagement and voted 6-1 to deny
VanderWey a monetary payout of her insurance premium through June. The removal of the nondisparagement clause would “allow us
to respond to any negative or incorrect information that might be out there” Noyes wrote in a group message.

The insurance payout was $4,868.50.

In a message to Noyes, Wells said that $5,000 was a “small price to pay” to “minimize slanderous language” from VanderWey.

The documents revealed one-on-one conversations between Noyes and Wells and Noyes and Frazier. Wells required additional
discussion.

Wells disagreed with the wording of the Jan. 29 letter that stated VanderWey and the
board had “philosophical di"erences.” Wells argued it was not “truthfully why she’s
resigning.”

“I truly believe that these decisions need to be performance based and not political,”
Wells wrote to Noyes.

In her response, Noyes wrote that stating “the exact reasons why” VanderWey was
resigning was “just not an option.” She added that the majority of the board
supported her phrasing.

The emails and messages did not reveal the “exact reasons” for VanderWey’s
resignation or why they have remained secret. A message indicated there was a
“district liability.”

“I can only speak for myself, but there were no personal issues that let (sic) to Dr.
VanderWey’s paid Administrative Leave,” Noyes said in an email to a parent.

Noyes responded to one resident that none of her decisions were fueled by personal
politics.

In his conversation with The Journal, Wells said that while he likely would disagree
with VanderWey on some political topics, they never discussed it.

Messages between Wells
and Noyes:
(Messages are quoted exactly as they appear over
the course of a few days, minus redactions)
Sheri Noyes to Cody Wells: Hi Cody, not sure if
you got the reminder email but I just wanted to
text you and remind you that the superintendent
evaluation is due today. If you can’t make that
happen just let Cynthia in HR know. Thanks!
Noyes to Cody Wells: (Redaction)
Wells to Noyes: Okay, thanks
Noyes to Wells: (Redaction)
Noyes to Wells: FYI Risha has been put on paid
administrative leave things are in order at the
admin o!ce please do not discuss any logistics
with the public or reporters.
Wells to Noyes: I would be fine with paying out the
benefits if we keep the verbiage. Absolutely keep
the nondisparagement paragraph.
Noyes to Wells: I just sent a new text. She still can
not sue us and it gives us the opportunity to reply
to any misinformation that may arise from her. I
feel they want this out because she has already
crossed the lines. Not trying to change your mind
just a little more info for you. Please reach out with
your final thoughts/concerns.
Wells to Noyes: I’d easily pay $5,000 to minimize
slanderous language. Small price to pay. That’s my
stance. I don’t even care that it’s vague. Let it be
vague. That would just keep her on her toes with
what she says.



Wells was the only board member who had not registered to vote with a specific
political party, according to 2021 voting records. The other members were
Republicans. VanderWey was a Democrat.

VanderWey joined the school district amid sweeping change, including new
administrative sta" members, a transition to a four-day week and conversations about
consolidating schools, COVID-19 and critical race theory.

Months before VanderWey’s arrival, school board member Lance McDaniel was
ousted by a 2-1 recall vote after complaints about his comments on social media.

VanderWey sometimes disagreed with the board’s majority opinion on topics such as
school closures and masking. She instigated school closures because of workforce
shortages and COVID-19 cases in October, drawing mixed reactions from the
community and board.

School board meetings became increasingly turbulent as attendance increased and
public comment filled the one-hour limit.

Disagreements about hot-button, politically colored conversations led board members
Jack Schuenemeyer, a Democrat, and Chris Flaherty, una!liated, to resign in
September.

Five of the six open school board positions were uncontested in the November
election. Rice replaced incumbent Tammy Hooten. Frazier and Hart also were new to
the board. Former Assistant Superintendent Lis Richard went on disability leave in
January.

Tom Burris was selected as interim superintendent while the district searched for
VanderWey’s replacement.

Wells’ conversation with The JournalThe Journal

For board member Wells, the outcome of the executive session was a surprise.

“I believed going into that (Jan. 18) meeting that it was the evaluation only,” Wells
told The Journal, adding that he had no knowledge about a decision to ask for
VanderWey’s resignation. He said it “blew” his mind.

“I personally would have thought if there was going to be any kind of action, that
should have been another meeting,” he said. “I think back sometimes. Could I have
navigated things better? I don’t know. But that’s been hard for me. That’s been on my
mind a lot.”

He said he has a good working relationship with the board and didn’t want to “throw
anyone under the bus.”

Noyes to Wells: Ok leave the verbiage but the
5000 is for to pay her cash equivalent to her
insurance premium. Do you want to do that or
would you rather not? So it’s two part situation.
Wells to Noyes: That’s exactly right. I very much
believe that would be in the districts best interest.
We’ll already be putting out fires for this and I
think it would go a long ways if we’re not fighting
her as well. That’s where I’m at.
Noyes to Wells: Ok text isn’t reading well. 1. You
are for leaving the verbiage in. 2. Do you also
want to pay her the $5000ish extra for her
insurance premium equivalent?
Wells to Noyes: Would you send me the
agreement?
Noyes to Wells: I do not have it yet. I will as soon
as I do.
Wells to Noyes: I don’t care much for the
philosophical di"erences portion. I think that just
gives peoples minds leeway to believe that we’re
all far right wing and that we only got rid of her
because of political di"erences. The reality is that
we gave her a poor evaluation due to job
performance and district liability. Now I
understand that we can’t just say all of that so my
suggestion is that we say something to the e"ect
of “This is a direct result of the superintendent
Evaluations and the board as a whole believes
that this is truly in the best interest of our entire
district. We thank our entire community for their
patience because confidentiality and legalities
need to be adhered to throughout this entire
process.”
Wells to Noyes: 3rd option for me. Thanks
Noyes to Wells: Thanks Cody.
Wells to Noyes: I seen a couple of spelling errors
so just make sure things are reviewed and di!cult
was meant to be direct
Noyes to Wells: Oh Ok. I will make sure. I am also
having them review by the lawyer.
Wells to Noyes: Perfect. I assumed but we all
know how that goes.
Wells to Noyes: FYI (I hate to be a pain here) but I
can not get behind philosophical di"erences
being the reason for resignation termination or
administrative leave. That’s not where my hearts
at, that’s not truthfully why she’s resigning and I
don’t think that’s an ethical reason for a poor
evaluation. I truly believe that these decisions
need to be performance based and not political.
I’ve said my peace so decide how you believe is
right but know that while I won’t undermine the
board or its members, I will not stand behind any
decisions being due to ‘philosophical di"erences.
Noyes to Wells: I will have to somewhat agree
with you on this (redaction). I would like to state
the exact reasons why too, but like we all know,
that is just not an option. I can get by with using
the wording working as well, but I think adding a
reason why was better than leaving it just
philosophical
Wells to Noyes: (Redaction) I am firm on option 3. I
stand by my evaluation and would rather give a
truthful statement even anticipating the many
challenges we would have to overcome. I still
cannot support philosophical di"erences being
the cause for resignation. Also, because we
removed the verbiage around nondisparagement,
she is just going to tell everyone that our
statement is untrue and that is not why she
resigned.

SPONSORED CONTENT

This 7-Day Savings Challenge Is Going Viral By
Making People Richer!"!"
BY THE PENNY HOARDER
Can you stick with this challenge for seven days? It's easier than you
think....

https://partners.thepennyhoarder.com/organize-your-finances-prt/?aff_id=282&utm_source=nativo&utm_medium=paidnative&aff_sub3=organize-your-finances-contextual&ntv_a=pFUHAxCJTA_e0PA&ntv_acpl=1043965&ntv_acsc=2&ntv_fpc=3bb730b3-5b44-40e3-a91d-1b690957b82f&ntv_cr=0&ntv_fr
https://partners.thepennyhoarder.com/organize-your-finances-prt/?aff_id=282&utm_source=nativo&utm_medium=paidnative&aff_sub3=organize-your-finances-contextual&ntv_a=pFUHAxCJTA_e0PA&ntv_acpl=1043965&ntv_acsc=2&ntv_fpc=3bb730b3-5b44-40e3-a91d-1b690957b82f&ntv_cr=0&ntv_fr


He spoke instead about VanderWey and his evaluation, which he said was “very fair”
yet “very critical.”

“I met with her every week. I got along with her. I liked her. And so when it came time
to have that meeting, it was a very tough thing for me,” he said. “I believe she truly
cared about the students. ... And I think she did a very good job.”

Wells said he has been approached by people with negative comments about the
district. It’s an “unfair overview,” he said.

“There’s a lot going on with our district right now, and I think it’s very easy to look at kind of a lot of negative things,” Wells said. “But
there’s a lot of really good things we have coming up with our district. I think we have the right people in the right places. Give it a
little bit of time, and I think we’ll have a district that we can be very proud of. I advocate for that. I believe it.”

You might also like

Reader Comments

Noyes to Wells: I can absolutely respect this,
however, this was what the majority leaned
toward. I know we will get push back no matter
how it is stated and what words are used. It can
be used in this sense: having a calm attitude
toward a di!cult or unpleasant situation. Which to
a degree I believe it was as such, but I also see
where you are coming from.

Bayfield man suspected of dragging dog
behind car is a no-show in court

Apr 13, 2022

La Plata County agrees to buy four
properties for managed camp

Apr 13, 2022

Cattlemen’s Association says industry
needs active support to remain strong

Apr 12, 2022

0 Comments Sort by 

Facebook Comments Plugin

Oldest

Add a comment...

https://www.durangoherald.com/
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/bayfield-man-suspected-of-dragging-dog-behind-car-is-a-no-show-in-court/
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/la-plata-county-agrees-to-buy-four-properties-for-managed-camp/
https://www.durangoherald.com/articles/cattlemens-association-says-industry-needs-active-support-to-remain-strong/
https://developers.facebook.com/products/social-plugins/comments/?utm_campaign=social_plugins&utm_medium=offsite_pages&utm_source=comments_plugin
https://www.facebook.com/plugins/feedback.php?app_id&channel=https%3A%2F%2Fstaticxx.facebook.com%2Fx%2Fconnect%2Fxd_arbiter%2F%3Fversion%3D46%23cb%3Df15dc4f13eae7%26domain%3Dwww.durangoherald.com%26is_canvas%3Dfalse%26origin%3Dhttps%253A%252F%252Fwww.durangoherald.com%252Ff5840796e946fa%26relation%3Dparent.parent&color_scheme=light&container_width=626&height=100&href=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.durangoherald.com%2Farticles%2Fhow-the-cortez-school-board-ousted-its-superintendent%2F&locale=en_US&numposts=10&sdk=joey&version=v4.0&width#
















 7:49 PM

 04/14/22

 Accrual Basis

 San Juan Water Conservancy District

 Expenses by Vendor Summary
 January through March 2022
Jan - Mar 22

Bean & Tirico LLC 1,000.00

CEGR Law 292.50

Century Link 122.30

CO Special Dist Property & Liability Pool 1,557.00

Collins Cockrel & Cole 70.50

Dolores Water Conservancy District 1,000.00

Durango Herald 112.74

Montrose Daily 112.00

Office Depot 94.05

Pagosa Springs Chamber of Commerce 160.00

Pagosa Springs Sun 182.66

Southwest Water and Property Law  LLC 3,021.00

Telluride News 137.00

Vida Verde LLC 2,760.00

Water Educ Colo 307.50

Water Information Program 2,500.00

Zoom 32.04

TOTAL 13,461.29

 Page 1 of 1



 7:42 PM

 04/14/22

 Accrual Basis

 San Juan Water Conservancy District

 Profit & Loss
 January through March 2022

Jan - Mar 22

Income

1003300 · Revenue

1003381 · General Property Taxes 45,324.49

1003382 · Specific Ownership 2,834.08

1003383 · Current Tax Interest 2.31

1003384 · Delinquent Tax Interest 0.42

1003385 · Delinquent Tax 3.79

1003387 · Other (e.g.CoTrust, abatements) 36.70

Total 1003300 · Revenue 48,201.79

Total Income 48,201.79

Gross Profit 48,201.79

Expense

1031000 · Capital Expenditures

1031006 · Water Rights Defense 1,379.00

1031009 · Water Rights Applications 27.00

Total 1031000 · Capital Expenditures 1,406.00

1041200 · Expensed Capital Expenditures

1041223 · Cloud Seeding 1,000.00

Total 1041200 · Expensed Capital Expenditures 1,000.00

1090000 · Expenditures

1090080 · Board Expense 851.90

1090110 · Insurance 1,557.00

1090160 · Office Supplies 126.09

1090161 · Office Lease 1,000.00

1090162 · Legal-District Gen 1,978.00

1090231 · Support Services (Acct used to be called "Administration') 2,760.00

1090232 · Telephone/Internet 122.30

1090410 · Dues 514.69

1090439 · Training 625.00

1090440 · Travel 694.30

1090442 · Water Information Program 2,500.00

1090443 · Water Education (Acct used to be called 'Consulting') 250.00

1090460 · Treasurer's Fees 1,359.73

1090461 · Abatements 2.66

Total 1090000 · Expenditures 14,341.67

Total Expense 16,747.67

Net Income 31,454.12

 Page 1 of 1



Board
Bill Hudson

Mitigation Plan for Running Iron Ranch

The Weber lease runs out in 2023.  (On Jan. 1?)  At the joint work session, the PAWSD Board 
indicated little interest in extending the lease.

Is the SJWCD Board clear about what mitigation is required on the property, according to the 2008 
leases?  We have heard verbal reports from Justin, at a recent work session, that the Webers were 
willing to tear down the old buildings on the property, but are not willing to remove the waste, if we 
renewed the lease.  We must assume that they’re not willing to tear down the buildings if the lease is 
not renewed.  Who, then, is responsible for removing those old buildings?

What guarantees do PAWSD and SJWCD have that the required mitigation will be carried out to the 
districts’ satisfaction?  

The State has oversight, concerning the reclamation required on the gravel mining site, and we 
assume the Webers will seek the approapriate inspections by the State once the reclamation is 
complete.  We might also assume that the mining reclamation SHOULD already be underway, if the 
Weber expect to complete it by the start of 2023.

Is mining reclamation underway?  Are there other damaged areas on the property that we expect the 
Webers to repair? 

Do the districts have any intention of re-opening the gravel mines in the future?  How would that 
play out?  

Should PAWSD and SJWCD form a joint subcommittee to address these questions?  Soon?

POSSIBLE BOARD ACTION:  

1. Approach the  PAWSD board with a proposal to form a subcommittee.

2. Task our Executive Assistant with the job of researching these questions.

3.  Form an SJWCD subcommittee with the job of researching these questions.



 

Page | 1 of 3 
 

PAGOSA AREA WATER AND SANITATION DISTRICT 

INTERGOVENMENTAL AGREEMENT CONCERNING THE SAN JUAN 

HEADWATERS (AKA DRY GULCH) PROJECT BETWEEN THE PAGOSA 

AREA WATER AND SANITATION DISTRICT AND THE SAN JUAN WATER 

CONSERVANCY DISTRICT 

This Intergovernmental Agreement (“Agreement”) is executed this XX day of February, 2020, 

by the PAGOSA AREA WATER AND SANITATION DISTICT (“PAWSD”) a quasi-

municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado and the SAN JUAN 

WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT (“SJWCD”), an agency of the State of Colorado and a 

public corporation (PAWSD and SJWCD being singularly referred to as “Party” and jointly 

referred as “Parties”). 

WHEREAS, PAWSD is organized and operated pursuant to Title 32, Colorado Revised 

Statutes (CRS); to provide water supply and distribution services within or without the 

jurisdictional boundaries of the District, which boundaries are located within Archuleta County, 

Colorado; and  

WHEREAS, the SJWCD is a water conservancy district, an agency of the State of Colorado 

and a public corporation operating pursuant to the provisions of Article 45 of Title 37, CRS; and 

WHEREAS, the PAWSD board of Directors and the SJWCD Board of Directors previously 

determined the need for the Dry Gulch Reservoir and the Dry gulch Pumping Station (the “Dry 

Gulch Project”) to provide water storage and a source of reliable water supply; and 

WHEREAS, both PAWSD and the SJWCD have entered into an agreement to restructure the 

Colorado Water Conservation Board (CWCB) Dry Gulch Reservoir Loan Contract Number 

C150261 on July 22, 2015 (referred to herein as the “CWCB Agreement”).  

WHEREAS, both PAWSD and the SJWCD desire to enter into this Agreement to reflect the 

new understanding and other understandings between the PAWSD and SJWCD that have changed 

to meet the new CWCB Agreement ; and 

NOW THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION of the above recitals, the mutual covenants 

contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 

are hereby mutually acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:  

AGREEMENT 

1. The SJWCD shall meet the requirements of the CWCB Agreement by: 

a. Leading the long term management of the Dry Gulch Project; 

b. Develop additional Dry Gulch Project stake holders; 

c. Use its best efforts to pursue additional land necessary for the Dry Gulch Project 

with written approval from the CWCB and PAWSD; 

d. Take the lead on future water court proceedings in relation to the Dry Gulch Project. 



 

Page | 2 of 3 
 

2. The PAWSD shall meet the requirements of the CWCB Agreement by: 

a. The Dry Gulch Project shall be the preferred option for long term water planning; 

b. All future water demands will first be met with Dry Gulch Project water; 

c. Will not convey West Fork water to PAWSD District 1 ditches, pipelines or 

reservoirs. 

d. File joint applications with the Water SJWCD for finding of reasonable diligence 

when required by the Water Court. 

e. No less than 50% of annual payment savings from the principal and interest rate 

reductions from the new CWCB Agreement will be used on water loss efforts on 

the PAWSD distribution system. 

f. Report annual water loss efforts to the CWCB by September 1st. 

 

3. The Parties mutually agree that leasing portions or all of the Dry Gulch Project property to 

a single or multiple entities for, but not limited to, grazing, gravel mining, hay development 

and/or recreational, benefits the Dry Gulch Project.   

a. PAWSD will consult with the SJWCD on any lease agreement. 

b. Any lease agreement shall be between PAWSD (lessor) and the lessee.   

c. Any lease agreement shall include a clause to cancel the lease to assure the lease 

does not interfere with the construction of the Dam. 

d. Any funds received from leasing activities shall be put towards the Dry Gulch 

Project debt repayment. 

 

4. PAWSD at its sole discretion may sell the Dry Gulch Project Property during or after the 

planning period and will be solely responsible for costs associated with the sale in 

compliance with the CWCB Agreement. 

5. The term of this Agreement shall be through the end of the year in which it is entered, and 

this Agreement shall be automatically renewed for additional one (1) year terms perpetuity.  

Either Party may terminate this Agreement upon on-hundred-eighty (180) days written 

notice to the other Party for any reason or no reason.   

6. Any formal notice, demand or request pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and 

shall be deemed properly served, given or made, if delivered in person or sent by certified 

mail postage prepaid to the Parties at the Parties current legal addresses.  

7. This Agreement may be amended only by written document signed by the Parties. 

8. In the event that any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this Agreement or their 

application shall be held invalid as to any person, entity or circumstance by any court 

having competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this Agreement and the application in 

effect of its terms, covenants or conditions to such persons, entities or circumstances shall 

not be effected thereby.  . 

 



 

Page | 3 of 3 
 

9. The waiver by either party of any breach by the other of any term, covenant or condition 

contained in this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent reach of 

the same or other term, covenant, or condition.  

 

10. This Agreement embodies the complete agreement between the Parties regarding the 

subject matter herein and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, if any.   

 

11. The Parties of this Agreement do not intend to benefit any person not a party to this 

Agreement.  No person or entity, other than the Parties to this Agreement, shall have any 

right, legal or equitable, to enforce any provision of this Agreement. 

 

12. By execution of this Agreement, the undersigned each individually represent that he or she 

is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and that the subject Party shall be 

bound by the signatory’s execution of this Agreement. 

 

13. This Agreement shall be enforced as effective on the last signature date of this Agreement. 

 

       __________________________ 

         Jim Smith, PAWSD President 

 

(SEAL) 

Attest: 

 

_____________________________________ 

           Gordon McIver, PAWSD Secretary 

 

       __________________________ 

         John Porco, SJWCD President 

 

(SEAL) 

Attest: 

 

_____________________________________ 

           Allen Pfister, SJWCD Secretary 

 



Running Iron Ranch Purchase

* Running Iron Ranch
* 666 Acres ±
* $10,219,363

* $9,219,363 loan
* 1,000,000 grant

* 2015 Appraised Value $4,565,000 (includes water rights)
* Park Ditch Water Rights

* 9.1 CFS
* 39 “A” shares 52 “C” shares

* PAWSD acquired an additional 10 shares (1 cfs) with the 
inclusion of Log Park



570105400019
68.11	acres

570105400014
40.00	acres

570105400001
5.49	acres

570105400016
552.73	acres



CWCB Re-Structured Agreement

* Loan A (Planning Period)
* $4,290,930.32
* 20 years (9/23/2016 to 2036)
* 1.75%

* Loan B (Optional Extended Planning Period)
* $4,565,000
* Deferred for 20 years (2036 to 2056)
* 3.50%



CWCB Re-Structured Agreement

* SJWCD Agrees to:
* Lead the long-term management of the Project.
* Develop additional Project stakeholders.
* Use best efforts to pursue additional land necessary for 

the Project w/ written approval from the CWCB and 
PAWSD.

* Obtain written approval from the CWCB and PAWSD 
before proceeding with any land exchanges.

* Take the lead on future water court proceedings in 
relation to the Project.



CWCB Re-Structured Agreement

* PAWSD Agrees to:
* Project is preferred option for long-term water 

planning.
* Plan for all future water demands will first be met w/ 

Project water. 
* File joint applications with SJWCD for finding of 

reasonable diligence when required by the Water Court.
* No less than 50% of annual payment savings from 

principal and interest rate reductions to be used on 
water loss efforts on distribution system – annual report 
on said efforts due to CWCB by September 1st.  



CWCB Re-Structured Agreement

* AGREEMENT PROVISIONS SUMMARY:
* CWCB agreed to reduce principal and interest rate on the 

original loan in exchange for PAWSD and SJWCD continued 
interest in Project and water conservation/leak efforts.

* SJWCD to take lead on Project in coordination with CWCB and 
PAWSD.

* Planning period is 20 years and can be extended for an 
additional 20 years.

* PAWSD cannot sell off any part of the property.
* PAWSD and SJWCD continue “due diligence” on Project 

water rights in water court.
* If Project property is sold, CWCB gets first right of refusal and 

can impose various “penalty” structures depending on 
circumstances.



CWCB Re-Structured Agreement

* “Penalties”
* If Project is not constructed:

* PAWSD and SJWCD shall repay the $1,000,000 grant at 
3.50% interest from original date of grant.

* If property is sold during planning period:
* Loan A Repayment at 3.5% interest back dated to 9/23/2016
* Loan B Repayment at 3.5%  interest back dated to 9/23/2016
* CWCB also gets 50% of any money above everything owed.



Weber Lease Agreements

* January 3rd 2008 to January 3rd 2023
* $1.00/year
* 4 separate agreements
* 57010540016 (68.11 acres) & 57010540019 (552.73 acres)
* 57108100001 (5.49 acres)
* 57108100014 (40.00 acres)
* Sand and gravel lease

* Must coordinate access with the Webers and cannot 
interfere with operations.

* “Landlord and Tenant may from time to time extend 
the Term by mutual written consent.”



Weber Lease Agreements

* Additional Requirements:
* Must provide irrigation water to Weber's retained 

property (expires if Webers no longer own the 
property).

* Districts are required to pay all fees associated with Park 
Ditch (Webers get use of the water).

* Districts cannot interfere with development of retained 
property.

* Districts will provide access to retained property (Legal 
Access Easement has been provided).

* Tenant shall comply with all applicable laws (including 
environmental laws).



* Conclusion of Lease
* Webers are obligated to restore the premises and take 

all other actions required by applicable mining laws and 
regulations.

* Webers may remove all personal property and 
improvements.
* Property considered abandoned 60 days after lease expires 

or is terminated. 

Weber Agreement



 

 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Board of Directors, San Juan Water Conservancy District 
 
FROM: Jeffrey Kane 
 
RE:  Director Duties and Conflicts of Interest 
 
DATE: August 20, 2018 
 
 This Memorandum provides a brief identification and discussion of Director 
fiduciary duties and related concepts as well as conflicts of interest. These duties and 
issues arise for all types of entities (e.g., for-profit corporations, NGOs), but Directors of 
publicly-funded entities have heightened responsibilities and duties given that they are 
ultimately funded by and authorized to act on the public’s behalf. This memorandum 
should help you identify when your duties may be relevant, but you should consult 
with legal counsel anytime you have a question about them or their application.  

I. Constitutional and Statutory Principles 

The Colorado Constitution includes several principles that address the 
heightened ethical standards that government officials are expected to meet:  

• The conduct of local government officials “must hold the respect and confidence 
of the people;”  

• Local government officials “shall carry out their duties for the benefit of the 
people of the state;”  

• Local government officials must “avoid conduct that is in violation of their 
public trust or that creates a justifiable impression among members of the public 
that such trust is being violated;”  

• Any effort to realize personal financial gain through public office is a violation of 
that trust; and  

• To ensure propriety and to preserve public confidence, local government officials 
“must have the benefit of specific standards to guide their conduct, and of a 
penalty mechanism to enforce those standards.”  

Colo. Const. Art. XXIX, Section 1. 



Board of Directors, San Juan Water Conservancy District 
February 6, 2019 
Page -2- 
 

 

 Colorado statute also provides “guides to conduct” that implement those 
principles:  

1. A Director should not acquire or hold an interest in any business or undertaking 
which he has reason to believe may be directly and substantially affected to its 
economic benefit by official action to be taken by the District.  

2. A Director should not, within six months of leaving the Board, obtain 
employment in which he will take direct advantage, unavailable to others, of 
matters with which he was directly involved during his term as a Director.  

3. A Director should not perform an official act directly and substantially affecting 
a business or other undertaking to its economic detriment when he has a 
substantial financial interest in a competing firm or undertaking. 

4. A Director is discouraged from assisting or enabling members of their immediate 
family in obtaining employment, a gift of substantial value, or an economic 
benefit tantamount to a gift of substantial value from a person whom the 
Director is in a position to reward or has rewarded with official action. 

C.R.S. § 24-18-105.  

II. Director Fiduciary Duties 

By design, fiduciary duties are somewhat vague and courts and regulators have 
recognized some flexibility in cases where a breach of fiduciary duty is alleged. It is 
advisable to avoid even the appearance of impropriety with regard to these duties, both 
because of uncertainty in how they may be applied in a particular instance and because 
the District is a governmental entity that “must hold the respect and confidence of the 
people.” Colorado Constitution, Sec. 1, Art. XXIX (“Ethics in Government”). Even 
where a clearly defined legal duty may not apply, it is advisable to act with prudence 
and consider the impacts of one’s actions on the District as a whole, its other Directors, 
and its employees. Directors having a particular question about these duties may 
consult the District’s general counsel or request an advisory opinion from the Colorado 
Independent Ethics Commission (https://www.colorado.gov/iec).  

A. Duty of Due Care:  

• Directors must exercise reasonable care when they make a decision for the 
District.  

• Directors must act in good faith (i.e., honesty of purpose), with the care an 
ordinarily prudent person in a like position would reasonably believe 
appropriate under similar situations.  

• Board members must regularly attend Board meetings and take an active and 
informed role in decision-making.  



Board of Directors, San Juan Water Conservancy District 
February 6, 2019 
Page -3- 
 

 

• Directors must ask questions about matters that are unclear or if they feel they 
need more information.  

Business Judgment Rule: Directors are entitled to rely on information and opinions 
presented by persons designated by the District to provide them, such as  

(1) employees believed to be reliable and competent in the matter;  
(2) professionals such as legal counsel, engineers, and accountants; or  
(3) a committee of the Board upon which a Director does not serve but 
reasonably believes to merit confidence.  
 

B. Duty of Loyalty:  

• Directors must act in the best interest of the District at all times when making 
decisions on the behalf of the District. 

• Directors must never put personal priorities or opportunities ahead of the 
District’s interests. 

• Directors must honor the confidentiality of information, especially 
communications from an attorney for the District and Board discussions of 
specific legal questions in executive session (only an official action by the Board 
can waive the attorney-client privilege). 

• Directors must avoid and disclose conflicts of interest as provided by statute (see 
below).  

• Directors are appointed by a judge, not elected by voters, but a Director’s 
constituents are the citizens and taxpayers of the District.  

C. Duty of Obedience:  

• Each Director, when he or she takes office, is required to take an oath. 

• Directors must carry out the purposes of the District and obey all applicable 
local, state, and federal laws.  

• The purposes of the District are defined in the Water Conservancy District 
statute and the District’s formation decree, bylaws, contracts and other 
governing documents.  

• Other applicable law includes Colorado open meetings and open records acts, 
water and irrigation company law, general property law, other statutes 
governing officials of state agencies and political subdivisions, and constitutional 
rights that protect citizens from certain actions by government.  



Board of Directors, San Juan Water Conservancy District 
February 6, 2019 
Page -4- 
 

 

• Directors must abide by the decisions of the board and should not oppose 
implementation or cast doubt upon those decisions by criticizing them publicly.  

II. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST  

A. Conflicts of Interest Must be Identified, Disclosed, and Avoided  

Perhaps no area offers greater potential exposure to liability than the area of 
conflicts of interest. Before a Director takes any action, potential conflicts of interest and 
all legal implications as well as the policy implications and appearance of impropriety 
should be considered. Failing to disclose a potential financial conflict of interest is a 
criminal misdemeanor and could result in prosecution. Any contract, vote or other 
official act in which a Director had a potential conflict, not cured by disclosure, may 
result in the avoidance of the act or the contract being voided. Non-financial conflicts of 
interest are less clearly defined than financial conflicts of interests and are not 
addressed in Colorado criminal statutes. 

B. Specific Conduct Defined by Statute as a Conflict of Interest  

A Director, as an appointed local government official, shall not:  

1. Disclose or use confidential information acquired in the course of his official 
duties in order to further his personal financial interests.  

2. Accept gifts of substantial value or of substantial economic benefit tantamount to 
a gift of substantial value, which would tend to improperly influence a 
“reasonable person” in his or her position to depart from the faithful and 
impartial discharge of his or her public duties or which a reasonable person in 
his or her position should know under the circumstances is primarily for the 
purpose of rewarding him or her for an official action.  

3. Engage in a substantial financial transaction for his or her private business 
purposes with a person whom he or she inspects or supervises in the course of 
his or her official duties.  

4. Perform an official act directly and substantially affecting to its economic benefit, 
a business or other undertaking in which he or she either has a substantial 
financial interest or is engaged as counsel, consultant, representative or agent.  

5. Be interested in any contract made in his or her official capacity or by any body, 
agency, or board of which he/she is a member or employee.  

6. Be a purchaser at any sale or vendor at any purchase made by him or her in his 
or her official capacity.  

C.R.S. §§ 24-18-104, -109, -201 and -202. A potential conflict of interest also exists when a 
Director is an executive officer, or owns or controls directly or indirectly a substantial 



Board of Directors, San Juan Water Conservancy District 
February 6, 2019 
Page -5- 
 

 

interest, in any nongovernmental entity participating in a transaction with the District. 
C.R.S. § 18-8-308(2).  

C. Specific Conduct May Result in a Nonfinancial Conflict of Interest.  

A Director may have a nonfinancial conflict of interest when the Director has a 
direct or indirect interest in another entity, governmental or non-governmental, which 
may affect his or objective decision-making or fiduciary duty to the District. When an 
individual is a Director for the District and another entity, he or she owes a fiduciary 
duty to both entities. While serving at meetings of each entity’s board of directors, the 
Director shall act in the best interests of the entity at whose meeting he or she is 
attending. If a conflict of interest arises between the two entities, the Director must 
disclose the conflict of interest and proceed as set forth below.  

Difficulties arise when a Director may receive confidential information from one 
entity that may materially affect the other entity. Does he or she have a fiduciary duty 
to disclose the confidential information to the other entity? Prudence would say the 
Director should recuse from discussion of the issue with both entities so that he or she 
does not obtain confidential information from one entity that properly should be 
disclosed to the other entity if known.  

D. Written Disclosure of a Conflict of Interest to Avoid Disqualification is 
Permitted in Limited Circumstances  

A Director must disqualify himself or herself from voting on any issue in which 
he or she has a financial conflict of interest, unless that Director’s participation is 
necessary to obtain a quorum or otherwise to enable the Board to act and such Director 
has disclosed the conflict of interest in writing to the Secretary of State and to the Board 
on the record. C.RS. §§ 24-18-109(3)(b) and -110. If a Director disqualifies himself or 
herself and does not vote, the Director must also refrain from attempting to influence 
the decisions of other Directors voting on the matter. C.RS. § 24-18-109(3)(a).  

A Director may be subject to criminal prosecution if he or she exercises any 
substantial discretionary function in connection with a government contract without 
having given 72 hours’ actual advance written notice to the Secretary of State and to the 
Board of the existence of a known potential financial conflicting interest. C.RS. § 18-8-
308(1). Failure to disclose a financial conflict of interest is a class 2 misdemeanor. C.RS. § 
18-8-308(3).  

For nonfinancial conflicts of interest there is no statutory direction for water 
conservancy districts. Other entities, however, have adopted policies that address 
nonfinancial conflicts of interest. For instance, when a director has disclosed a potential 
nonfinancial conflict of interest, the non-conflicted directors may decide if the disclosed 
conflict is a conflict that compromises the director’s fiduciary duty of loyalty and 
whether the director should be precluded from participating in the matter which may 



Board of Directors, San Juan Water Conservancy District 
February 6, 2019 
Page -6- 
 

 

have given rise to the conflict of interest, or the director may voluntarily recuse himself 
from the discussion and not vote on the transaction.  

 

/Volumes/Data/WP/9615/01/Board Meetings/Legal Memoranda and Reports/Drafts/20180820 Memo to SJWCD Board re 
Director Duties and Conflicts of Interest.docx 



DATE FILED: March 1, 2022 
CASE NUMBER: 1987CV100 



 

SJWCD Board Agenda Item Report       
15 April 2022 

 

 

Board Agenda Item Report 
 To Action Signature, Date  To Action Signature, Date 

1 Sally High Review  6    

2 Board Update  7    

3    8    

4    9    

5    10    

Name of Action Official 

Al Pfister 
Priority 

High Medium Low None 
 

Phone 

970-985-5764 
Presentation Date  

4/18/2022 

Subject 

Consideration of Reappointment of Director Hudson 

Approval Req Date 

4/18/2022 



 

 

2 
 

 

Summary: 

 

The Court Clerk for Judge Wilson was contacted to determine whether a motion was required for appointment or reappointment to 

the SJWCD Board. The Court Clerk said that while it is not required, Judge Wilson does request a motion from the appropriate entity 

for appointment and/ or reappointments.    

 

Director Hudson’s term expired in March 2022.  The Board needs to decide the content of the motion for reappointment, so that it can 

be sent to Judge Wilson for his decision of approving or disapproving reappointment.  

 

Director Hudson has done a good job of performing the Treasurer’s duties, as well as maintaining and hosting the District’s website.  

In performing his Treasurer duties, he has made inquiries, of his own volition, to the San Juan Forest Health Partnerhip and San Juan 

Watershed Enhancement Partnership for their financial records, thus creating a work load issue for those entities. 

 

During his tenure on the Board, Director Hudson has created an overall unhealthy, and less productive, environment for the Board to 

accomplish its mission. This unhealthy environment has been created by the confrontational manner in which issues are discussed at 

Board meetings, as well as articles/editorials that have been posted in the Daily Post.  Some of the articles in the Post very strongly 

push the line of violating Director Hudson’s fulfillling his fiduciary duties as a director. 

 

As editor and owner of the Daily Post, he made an inquiry (reprinted below) to a recently contracted consultant to get their 

perspective on an effort the Board had just approved and he was writing an article on, admitting he was a person that was an “outlier 

on the Board”. Such actions actions could create a negative perspective on contractors/consultants wanting to work for/with the 

District. 

 

Email content received from consultant: 

 

  

Name 

Bill Hudson 

Email 

pagosadailypost@gmail.com  

Message 

Hi PRS... I'm the editor of the Pagosa Daily Post, and also a member of the San Juan Water Conservancy 

District. I'm currently writing a multi-part editorial about 'communications in the new era of Water' and I'm 

including some information about SJWCD's decision to hire PRS for communications management. If you 

folks would like to be interviewed, or if you'd like to submit some content in a written form, I would be happy 

to include your statements in a future installment. Just to be clear with you, I tend to be an 'outlier' on the 

SJWCD board, and I'm generally skeptical about current water policy in Colorado. But I would be happy to 

present your point of view on water communications, in whatever form you'd like to offer them. 

 

 

 

mailto:pagosadailypost@gmail.com















	Final Regular Meeting Agenda 4:18:2022
	Feb 21 Minutes
	SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES MAR 10 2022
	20220413 SWP Atty report for Apr 18 BOD meeting
	PRSAgreement Mar 2022
	22-Q1-Expenses
	22-Q1-P&L
	22-SJWCD-Agenda-Item-April-Webers-2
	IGA PAWSD and SJWCD
	Pagosa area water and sanitation DISTRICT

	PAWSD SJWCD Joint Meeting 3 Way agmt
	20180820 Memo to SJWCD Board re Director Duties and Conflicts of Interest
	20220226 B Hudson ltr requesting reappointment 
	AIR  Hudson Reappointment
	WWG SJWCD Contract 2022 - Signed
	SJWCD Ltr Commitment Signed



